Scoring and Analysis Guide for Assessing Human Well-Being



The Criteria & Indicators Toolbox Series

Scoring and Analysis Guide for Assessing Human Well-Being

Agus Salim and Carol J. Pierce Colfer with Cynthia McDougall

The Criteria & Indicators Toolbox Series

Table of Contents

Introduction
I – The Scoring Guide
II – Master C&I Spreadsheet
III – Quantitative Analysis Guidelines
A - Analysis of results from a stakeholder identification method (CatPac)5B - Analysis of methods on security of intergenerational access to resources56C - Analysis of methods for rights and means to manage100D - Conclusions136E - Bibliography136Appendix A: Checking regression analysis assumptions137
List of Figures
Figure 1. Computer screen showing part of a master C&I spreadsheet
Figure 2. Cognitive map for baka females (Dja Reserve, Cameroon) 5 Histo-ecological matrix
Figure 3. Spreadsheet format for histo-ecological data
Figure 4. Choosing add-ins submenu (histo-ecological data) 59
Figure 5. Choosing specified add-ins module (histo-ecological data)
Figure 6. Starting regression analysis for histo-ecological data
Figure 7. Defining variable's cell range (histo-ecological data) 6.
Figure 8. Output of regression analysis for histo-ecological data
Access to resources by generation
Figure 9. Spreadsneet format for inter-generation data
Figure 10. Label button (Inter-generation data)
Figure 17. Changing type of hour let for inter-generation data
Figure 12. Choosing type of boxplot for inter-generation data need to be checked
Figure 14 Boxplot for inter-generation data

Figure 15. Selecting inter-generation variables	71
Figure 16. SPSS table describing distribution of access to resources across generation,	
according to all respondents	72
Figure 17. Pivot table wizard (inter-generation data)	73
Figure 18. Constructing pivot table for simple analysis on inter-generation data (step 1)	73
Figure 19. Constructing pivot table for simple analysis on inter-generation data (step 2)	74
Figure 20. Changing default statistic on inter-generation data	75
Figure 21. MS Excel table describing distribution of access to resources across generation,	
according to all respondents	76
Figure 22. Selecting inter-generation variables to be summarised	77
Figure 23. Selecting demographics variable on inter-generation data	78
Figure 24. SPSS table describing comparison of distribution of access to resources across	
generation based on ethnicity	79
Figure 25. Selecting statistical test for testing agreement on inter-generation data 8	30
Figure 26. Selecting test variables and grouping variable (inter-generation data)	31
Figure 27. Defining range for grouping (demographics) variable (inter-generation data) 8	31
Figure 28. Output of statistical test for each generation (inter-generation data) 8	32
Figure 29. Constructing pivot table for advanced analyses on inter-generation data 8	33
Figure 30. MS Excel table describing comparison of distribution of access to resources	
across generation based on ethnicity &	34
Benefit sharing among stakeholders	
Figure 31. Spreadsheet format for forest benefits data	35
Figure 32. Label button (forest benefits data) 68	37
Figure 33. Defining labels for educational level on forest benefits data	38
Figure 34. Choosing type of boxplot for forest benefits data	90
Figure 35. Choosing variables of forest benefits data need to be checked	90
Figure 36. Boxplot for forest benefits data) 1
Figure 37. Step 1 of selecting variables to be summarised (forest benefits data)) 2
Figure 38. Step 2 of selecting variables to be summarised (forest benefits data)) 2
Figure 39. SPSS table describing forest benefits distribution according to all respondents) 3
Figure 40. Pivot table wizard (forest benefits data)	94
Figure 41. Constructing pivot table for simple analysis on forest benefits data (step 1)	94
Figure 42. Constructing pivot table for simple analysis on forest benefits data (step 2)) 5
Figure 43. Changing the default statistic on forest benefits data) 6
Figure 44. MS Excel table describing forest benefits distribution according	
to all respondents) 7

Figure 45.	Selecting cases for specified subgroup (forest benefits data)	98	
Figure 46.	Filtering lower education level respondents on forest benefits data	99	
Figure 47.	. Cases selection result (forest benefits data)		
Figure 48.	Forest benefits distribution among stakeholders according to respondents		
-	with lower educational level	101	
Figure 49.	Comparison of forest benefits distribution among stakeholders to		
	respondents with lower educational level	101	
Figure 50.	Filtering data for kenyah and selecting statistical test (forest benefits data)	103	
Figure 51.	Selecting test variables and grouping variable (forest benefits data)	104	
Figure 52.	Defining range for grouping variable (forest benefits data)	104	
Figure 53.	Figure 53. Output of statistical test for kenyah based on educational level		
	(forest benefits data)	106	
Figure 54.	Constructing pivot table for advanced analysis on forest benefits data	107	
Figure 55.	MS Excel table describing comparison of forest benefits distribution		
	based on educational level	108	
Right to m	anage among stakeholders		
Figure 56.	Spreadsheet format for right to manage data	110	
Figure 57.	Label button (right to manage data)	112	
Figure 58.	Defining labels for educational level (right to manage data)	112	
Figure 59.	Choosing type of boxplot for right to manage data	114	
Figure 60.	Choosing variables of right to manage data need to be checked	114	
Figure 61.	Boxplot for right to manage data	115	
Figure 62.	Step 1 of selecting variables of right to manage data to be summarised	116	
Figure 63.	Step 2 of selecting variables of right to manage data to be summarised	116	
Figure 64.	SPSS table describing distribution of right to manage among stakeholders,		
	according to all respondents	117	
Figure 65.	Pivot table wizard (right to manage data)	118	
Figure 66.	Constructing pivot table for simple analysis on right to manage data (step 1)	119	
Figure 67.	Constructing pivot table for simple analysis on right to manage data (step 2)	119	
Figure 68.	Changing the default statistics on right to manage data	120	
Figure 69.	MS Excel table describing distribution of right to manage among		
	stakeholders, according to all respondents	121	
Figure 70.	Selecting cases for specified subgroup (right to manage data)	122	
Figure 71.	Filtering lower education respondents on right to manage data	123	
Figure 72.	Cases selection result (right to manage data)	124	

Figure 73	. Distribution of right to manage data among stakeholders,	
	according to respondents with lower educational level	125
Figure 74	. Comparison of right to manage distribution based on educational level	126
Figure 75	. Filtering data for punan (right to manage data)	127
Figure 76	. Selecting statistical test for testing agreement on right to manage data	128
Figure 77	. Selecting test variables and grouping variables (right to manage data)	129
Figure 78	. Defining range for grouping variable (right to manage data)	129
Figure 79	. Output of statistical test for punan based on educational level	
	(right to manage data)	131
Figure 80.	. Constructing pivot table for advanced analysis on right to manage data	132
Figure 81	. MS Excel table describing comparison of right to manage distribution	
	based on educational level	133
Checking	regression analysis assumptions	
Figure 82.	. Some pattern of residual variances	137
Figure 83	Normal probability plot of residual	138
Figure 84	. Plots show autocorrelated residual	140
List of Ta	bles	
Table 1.	Sample listing of cases with associated scoring.	
	from Danau Sentarum Wildlife Reserve, 1996	х
Table 2.	Sample table, showing scores by three assessors for a sub-set of C&I	
	(on forest management maintains or enhances fair inter-generational access	
	to resources and economic benefits)	47
	,	

Introduction

he ability to assess human well-being has been increasingly recognised as an important element in assessing sustainable forest management around the world in recent years. The ten tools in CIFOR's C&I Toolbox include a generic set of principles, criteria and indicators, and related methods. These are designed to help people make assessments of management in particular production forests where people live and work in and around the forest. The assessments include aspects relating to management, the environment and human well-being. Potential assessors might be project managers, certifiers, donors, government agencies, researchers, NGOs, and communities.

This tool, *The Scoring and Analysis Guide*, provides the user of the C&I *Generic Template* and the methods proposed in *The BAG* and *The Grab Bag* with help in scoring of human well-being, for the people in a particular forest. Criteria and indicators for human well-being are classified under three principles, with the following weightings:

P1	Forest management maintains or enhances fair intergenerational access to resources and economic benefits. W1 = 40%
P2	Concerned stakeholders have acknowledged rights and means to manage forests cooperatively and equitably. W2 = 30%
P3	The health of forest actors, cultures and the forest is acceptable to all stakeholders. $W3 = 30\%$

Human well-being = $[P1(score) \times W1] + [P2(score) \times W2] + [P3(score) \times W3].$

Section I is the guide to scoring the criteria and indicators used in the assessment of human wellbeing. The scoring system is simple, with 1 reflecting the most unsustainable conditions and 10, the most sustainable. Examples or cases of conditions reflecting unsustainable conditions (1–3), medium levels of sustainability (4–6) and fairly good levels of sustainability (7–10) are presented to help assessors evaluate the conditions they confront.

Section II guides the user through the process of setting up spreadsheets, and developing the 'master spreadsheet' of C&I described in *The BAG* and *The Grab Bag.* The user is then guided through a series of steps, involving

- 1. judging the sustainability of (often qualitative) examples and case material;
- assigning scores to each case/example (as evidence regarding a particular indicator);
- 3. averaging the scores for all the cases providing evidence relating to indicators for a particular criterion;
- 4. multiplying that average score by a weighting factor within the social C&I; and
- 5. averaging these values, determined for each criterion, to provide a value for the principle, and ultimately for the whole set of social C&I.

This procedure is simply a way to systematise and record your observations and judgements. It helps you remember what you have seen, helps keep you focused on the C&I of interest, and helps you identify gaps in your knowledge as you proceed through the assessment. There is nothing sacrosanct about the values you give or the averages you compute. They simply reflect your qualitative judgement, based on systematic observation, about human conditions on the site. They are relative values, not absolute ones.

Section III provides guidance for those using the quantitative methods proposed in *The* BAG and *The* Grab Bag in the data analysis. It helps the assessor with computer use and statistics and facilitates the development of simple, descriptive tables and figures to help make an assessment. The manual focuses on the analysis of results from the following methods: CatPac, the Histo-Ecological Matrix, Access to Resources by Generation, Benefit Sharing among Stakeholders, and Rights to Manage the Forest. This section includes very basic instructions for those who have not had any experience with spreadsheets, through to more complex statistical analyses that can be conducted if the expertise, time and interest are available.

CIFOR'S 'BEST BETS' SET OF PRINCIPLES, CRITERIA AND INDICATORS FOR HUMAN WELL-BEING (BASED ON FIVE YEARS OF FIELD TESTING AROUND THE WORLD)

P1 Forest management maintains or enhances fair intergenerational access to resources and economic benefits.

C1.1 Local management is effective in controlling maintenance of and access to the resource.¹

- I1.1.1 Ownership and use rights to resources (inter- and intragenerational) are clear and respect preexisting claims.
- I1.1.2 Rules and norms of resource use are monitored and enforced.
- I1.1.3 Means of conflict resolution function without violence.
- I1.1.4 Access to forest resources is perceived locally to be fair.
- I1.1.5 Local people feel secure about access to resources.

C1.2 Forest actors have a reasonable share in the economic benefits derived from forest use.

- I1.2.1 Mechanisms for sharing benefits are seen as fair by local communities.
- I1.2.2 Opportunities exist for local and forest-dependent people to receive employment and training from forest companies.
- I1.2.3 Wages and other benefits conform to national and/or International Labor Organisation (ILO) standards.
- I1.2.4 Damages are compensated in a fair manner.
- I1.2.5 The various forest products are used in an optimal equitable way.
- C1.3 People link their and their children's future with management of forest resources.
- I1.3.1 People invest in their surroundings (e.g., time, effort, money).
- I1.3.2 Outmigration levels are low.²
- I1.3.3 People recognise the need to balance numbers of people with natural resource use.
- I1.3.4 Children are educated (formally and informally) about natural resource management.
- I1.3.5 Destruction of natural resources by local communities is rare.
- I1.3.6 People maintain spiritual or emotional links to the land.

¹ This criterion is obviously very closely connected with criteria addressed from ecological and formal 'forest management' perspectives.

Indicators 1.3.2 and 3.1.2 contain a potential contradiction. Low levels of outmigration (II.3.2) indicate that people link their and their children's futures to maintaining the forest; yet recognising the need to balance numbers of people with natural resource use (I3.1.2) may lead them to favour outmigration. This contradiction would likely occur when conditions are deteriorating.

P2	Concerned stakeholders have acknowledged rights and means to manage forests cooperatively and equitably.
C2.1	Effective mechanisms exist for two-way communication related to forest management among stakeholders.
I2.1.1	 > 50% of timber company personnel and forestry officials speak one or more local language, or > 50% of local women speak the national language.
I2.1.2	Local stakeholders meet with satisfactory frequency, representation of local diversity, and quali- ty of interaction.
I2.1.3	Contributions made by all stakeholders are mutually respected and valued at a generally satis- factory level.
C2.2	Local stakeholders have detailed, reciprocal knowledge pertaining to forest resource use (includ- ing user groups and gender roles) as well as forest management plans prior to implementation.
I2.2.1	Plans/maps showing integration of uses by different stakeholders exist.
I2.2.2	Updated plans, baseline studies and maps are widely available, outlining logging details like cutting areas and road construction, and include temporal aspects.
I2.2.3	Baseline studies of local human systems are available and consulted.
I2.2.4	Management staff recognises the legitimate interests and rights of other stakeholders.
I2.2.5	Management of NTFP reflects the interests and rights of local stakeholders.
C2.3	Agreement exists on rights and responsibilities of relevant stakeholders.
I2.3.1	Level of conflict is acceptable to stakeholders.

P3 The health of forest actors, cultures and the forest is acceptable to all stakeholders.

- C3.1 There is recognisable balance between human activities and environmental conditions.
- I3.1.1 Environmental conditions affected by human uses are stable or improving.
- I3.1.2 Inmigration and/or natural population increases are in harmony with maintaining the forest.

C3.2 The relationship between forest management and human health is recognised.

- I3.2.1 Forest managers cooperate with public health authorities regarding illnesses related to forest management.
- I3.2.2 Nutritional status is adequate among local populations (e.g., children's growth conforms to international standards of height for weight; infant and < 5-year mortality levels are low).³
- I3.2.3 Forest employers follow ILO work and safety conditions and take responsibility for the forestrelated health risks of workers.
- C3.3 The relationship between forest maintenance and human culture is acknowledged as important.
- I3.3.1 Forest managers can explain links between relevant human cultures and the local forest.
- I3.3.2 Forest management plans reflect care in handling human cultural issues.
- I3.3.3 There is no significant increase in signs of cultural disintegration.

³ The fact that this indicator is not necessarily related to its criterion is one example of the shortcomings in this third principle, due to the absence — in contrast to the first two principles — of systematic field testing.

The Scoring Guide

In the following pages, we begin with the principles, criteria and indicators that make up the CIFOR C&I template related to social issues. One of our assumptions has been that social issues are on an equal footing with ecological and production-related aspects of sustainability assessments. Within the social C&I, we have allocated weightings (percentages) to each principle; and we have divided the percentages for each principle into weightings by criterion. These weightings are listed in parentheses after each principle (total) and each criterion (proportion of the principle's total). The weights are based on our team's qualitative estimate of the weights, which in turn is based on our field experience testing the criteria and indicators and testing methods to assess them in various countries. It may be necessary to adjust weights based on different field contexts. We ask users to avoid considering these scores and weights to be in any way sacrosanct. Although they represent our best estimate of how to assess sustainability issues at this time, we readily acknowledge their imperfection and ask users to bear this in mind.

Following the section on how to score qualitative conclusions, we have a short section (II) showing how to create a master C&I spreadsheet — a device for keeping track of your case material, making sure that you address each indicator, and come to a final score for your assessment. We also provide examples of evidence or cases that have been scored.

- P1 Forest management maintains or enhances fair intergenerational access to resources and economic benefits (Total value = 40%)
- C1.1 Local management is effective in controlling maintenance of and access to the resource.⁴ (Weighting factor = 15%)
- I1.1.1 Ownership and use rights to resources (inter- and intragenerational) are clear and respect preexisting claims.

Score of 1–3

Different stakeholders consistently present different views of ownership regulations (e.g., the government and timber companies state that the forest belongs to them while local people consider them theirs).

Score of 4-6

Although there is some disagreement about specifics (particular species may be subject to conflict, or a few special areas), various stakeholders explain ownership and use rights in similar ways. There could be a differentiation of ownership/use rights by area, by season, or by product.

Score of 7–10

There appears to be virtually complete agreement, preferably legalised in some manner, about the various stakeholders' ownership and use rights to local resources. Private ownership of land and/or plants, communal ownership, and various systems of use rights are among the options for such agreement and certainty to occur.

I1.1.2 Rules and norms of resource use are monitored and successfully enforced.

Score of 1-3

There may be no functioning rules and norms of resource use. Many examples of people disobeying local laws may be observed (e.g., people come in from other communities and harvest rattan in a community where permission is reportedly required; or outsiders hunt in local areas where local people reportedly have exclusive rights). No effective mechanisms for monitoring or enforcing local regulations appear to be in operation.

Score of 4-6

- There are local rules and regulations, but they may conflict with other sets (e.g., local community vs. national government, or even confusion about regulations from conservation vs. logging components of the Ministry of Forestry). Assessors note occasional examples of people disobeying local laws but more examples of people obeying them, with some sense that the system is working. There is some evidence that there are monitoring mechanisms, though they don't work perfectly. Sanctions are at least sometimes applied (incidents are observed of transgressors being caught, fined, put in jail, etc.).
- 4 This criterion is obviously very closely connected with criteria addressed from ecological and formal 'forest management' perspectives. Its weighting factor of 15 assumes additional points in other parts of the overall assessment.

Score of 7-10

Local rules and regulations are clearly defined and consistently applied. Assessors encounter no more than one recent example of people disobeying prevailing laws without punishment, and there is a feeling from local stake-holders that resource management is condoned and under control.

I1.1.3 Means of conflict resolution function without violence.

Score of 1–3

Many instances of conflict, including recurrent physical violence (burning down of timber camps, fighting among different stakeholders, threats), are reported and the assessors may witness some. There do not appear to be mechanisms for effectively dealing with conflict (courts don't function; bribery is rife; no party can serve as an independent judge).

Score of 4-6

Although conflicts occur, including occasionally some violence, they are not prevalent. Mechanisms for conflict resolution, though imperfect, do function. Many cases can be satisfactorily resolved in the courts, by traditional legal means, or by negotiations among stakeholders.

Score of 7-10

Conflicts are rare, and when they do occur, are satisfactorily resolved. Mechanisms for conflict resolution are apparent and function smoothly and in a transparent manner.

I1.1.4 Access to forest resources is perceived locally to be fair.

Score of 1-3

All or certain stakeholders (especially forest actors) complain continually about unfair access to resources. There may also be groups who suffer obvious injustices silently. Inequity in access to resources is obvious to the outsider as well.

Score of 4-6

Although there is some inequity in resource distribution, most stakeholders consider the situation from marginally to reasonably acceptable. Conditions for workers and local people, for instance, may be considered to be better than they would be without the timber company.

Score of 7–10

Almost all people encountered accept accept or resources is accepted as equitable by almost all people encountered. Various stakeholders can explain why access to resources functions as it does and agree that this is a reasonably good or even excellent distribution.

I1.1.5 Local people feel secure about access to resources.

Score of 1-3

People regularly express their fears, both for themselves and for their children, about their access to resources. They may consider that their land tenure or rights to forest products are on very 'shaky ground'. There may be national or regional plans to convert some of their area to some other use (plantations, transmigration, mining) from which they fear they will receive little or no benefit. Local people may feel the quality of the resources is declining so fast that there will be little left in the future.

Score of 4–6

Although people express some fear about the future, they are reasonably secure at the moment. There may be some threats, but either none seems terribly frightening, or people are uncertain of the implications of the threats. There is still a feeling of optimism, generally about current and future access to resources.

Score of 7–10

People freely express their feelings of security when asked about current and future access. They routinely plan for the future in that locale, including, for example, such activities as planting slow-growing trees. They may also show generosity in lending land or providing periodic access to their other resources. Rarely are fears expressed on this issue.

C1.2 Forest actors have a reasonable share in the economic benefits derived from forest use. (Weighting factor = 15%)

I1.2.1 Mechanisms for sharing benefits are seen as fair by local communities.

Score of 1–3

There are no identifiable mechanisms for sharing benefits, other than possibly some very minimal employment of local people. Local stakeholders consider forest resources to be exclusively available to certain, usually powerful/wealthy stakeholders. Local communities may have severely restricted or no access. Assessors hear recurrent complaints from various stakeholders about the unfairness of the current situation, and inequities are obvious (e.g., where a company comes in with governmental backing and forbids traditional forest uses).

Score of 4-6

There are some mechanisms for sharing of benefits, such as contributions by the company to community building efforts, community level development activities, and access to health care at the base camp. Although very substantial benefits from the forest go to the timber company (particularly monetary benefits), local people also derive benefits from the forest. They are able to continue their traditional agricultural activities (though with some uncertainty and lack of power in related negotiations), NTFP collection, and other forest uses in a way that is not seriously undermined by the timber company's activities.

Score of 7-10

- The issue of benefit sharing has been considered by all local stakeholders, and a satisfactory division of benefits has evolved or been negotiated. Mechanisms may include formally acknowledged, intergenerational rights to particular areas of land or species, royalty payments from the company, recognition of intellectual property rights, 'affirmative action' for local communities in employment, etc.
- I1.2.2 Opportunities exist for local and forest-dependent people to receive employment and training from forest companies⁵.

Score of 1–3

Virtually all timber company employees come in from outside, and local people are denied access on a regular basis. The few who do gain employment are slotted into 'dead-end' jobs.

Score of 4-6

Although some timber company employees are brought in from outside, a sizeable percentage of local people have opportunities to work in the company. There is evidence that local people also can work up through the ranks. Some local people express interest in working in the company.

Score of 7–10

Special attention is given to making company employment opportunities available to local people first. Efforts are made by the company to attract local people (e.g., compromises may be made to accommodate the seasonal labour needs of local agroforestry). Local people can advance beyond low-level employment.

I1.2.3 Wages and other benefits conform to national and/or ILO standards.

Score of 1–3

Wages are lower than comparable work in other sectors in the area and lower than legal standards. Health and life insurance are not even considered. Neither are vacation, sick leave, or severance pay. Workers' 'contracts' may be verbal understandings. There may be recurrent trickery or failures on the part of the company to abide by these informal agreements and understandings.

Score of 4-6

The logging company has rules specifying salary standards and benefits, and some are applied. However, there may be inadequate attention to these details or too little follow-up. Employees may not know the extent of their rights and benefits, either within the company or legally. If recompense is determined by cubic metres of wood cut, for instance, the workers may not know how to do the computations required to know what they are due. Workers hired through third-party contractors may have significantly less desirable salaries and benefits than those working directly for the company.

⁵ There is a potential conflict between this indicator and the concern to maintain the culture-forest link or cultural diversity. Sometimes involvement in wage labour such as that provided by timber companies results in alienation of people from their traditions without substituting anything better.

Score of 7–10

National or ILO standards are an explicit part of company policy and significant efforts are made to follow through on their implementation. Salaries and benefits are equal to or better than salaries given for comparable work by other employers in the area. Health and life insurance, sick leave and annual leave are routinely provided to company employees. New employees are informed of their rights in a transparent manner. Mechanisms exist for ensuring that other workers (under third-party contracts, for instance) also receive adequate salary and benefits.

I1.2.4 Damages are compensated in a fair manner.

Score of 1–3

The timber company regular damages local property or injures local people without providing any compensation. These damages may include killing or injuring local people with trucks or speedboats, killing local trees while logging or building roads, building roads through sacred groves, pulling log rafts over fishing nets, dumping chemicals in local water supply. Companies may clear areas that local people have traditionally used for agriculture, and replant with some commercial species owned by the company, without recompense.

Score of 4-6

Although the logging company occasionally damages something belonging to the local people, there are clear mechanisms for compensating the owners. These mechanisms are the subject of some debate, but examples of reasonable compensation are not unusual. There may be outstanding disagreements that have not been satisfactorily resolved.

Score of 7–10

The logging company knows about local ownership and use rights, and rarely damages local property. When damage does inadvertently occur, there are transparent mechanisms for assessing and paying compensation. There are also conflict resolution mechanisms in case of disagreement about fair compensation.

C1.3 People link their and their children's future with management of forest resources. (Score = 10%)

I1.3.1 People invest in their surroundings (e.g., time, effort, money).

Score of 1–3

There is virtually no observable community cooperation in common goals (e.g., building churches/mosques, cleaning streets, and doing village projects). People are not taking good care of their own village, their own homes, their own possessions, or local natural resources. There is a sense that they might leave at any moment, without undue regret. If people seek education, it is in relation to seeking a different life elsewhere.

Score of 4-6

There is some community-organised activity, though it is marred by intra-community conflicts and some degree of free riding. Local people make investments in their own homes, and to a lesser extent in the community at large. They plant trees and other long-term crops. There is evidence that they are expecting to stay in the area.

Score of 7-10

The local communities are well organised and regularly engage in cooperative community projects. People have pride in their surroundings and make efforts to improve them. There is a considerable degree of building, decoration, and other improvements in the community. Young people are educated with the idea that they should return to improve their own surroundings.

I1.3.2 Outmigration levels are low.⁶

Score of 1–3

There is an exodus of people from the area. Population figures are falling dramatically, primarily due to outmigration, and people encourage their children to look for better opportunities elsewhere.

Score of 4-6

People feel the call of 'city lights' for financial or other reasons, and some desire to escape the hardships of life in the forest, but most remain. Although parents perceive some advantages to city life, they tend to raise their children with the expectation that they will stay in the area and lead a forest-related life.

Score of 7-10

Very few people leave the area due to need or dissatisfaction with life there. Children are taught locally relevant skills and to value their way of life.

11.3.3 People recognise the need to balance numbers of people with natural resource use.

Score of 1–3

People reproduce at a high rate, creating a problem for their environment. Large family sizes are the norm, with most children remaining in the area and pursuing a lifestyle that depends on local natural resources. People do not recognise any link between number of people and the resource base.

Score of 4–6

- Population sizes are growing somewhat, and there is some pressure on the natural resources, but the situation is not dire. People are aware of a connection between people and resource use, but few mechanisms exist to assure a balance. There may be few alternatives.
- 6 Indicators 1.3.2 and 3.1.2 contain a potential contradiction. Low levels of outmigration (I1.3.2) indicate that people link their and their children's future to maintaining the forest; yet recognising the need to balance numbers of people with natural resource use (I3.1.2) may lead them to favour outmigration. This contradiction would likely occur when conditions are deteriorating.

Score of 7–10

People explicitly state the importance of balancing natural resources with human population and land use. There are effective mechanisms to intensify land use and/or to stabilise population levels (e.g., effective family planning program; significant outmigration; development of local alternatives to natural resource dependence or more efficient use of resources).

I1.3.4 Children are educated (formally and informally) about natural resource management.

Score of 1–3

Adults have no relevant knowledge (including indigenous knowledge) about local natural resource management or they do not teach such knowledge to their children. In some cases, indigenous knowledge has been under-valued for decades, resulting in its loss or 'muting', and no formal educational process has been available.

Score of 4-6

The level of knowledge (indigenous, formal, or a combination of the two) is acceptable, and some mechanisms exist for passing on this knowledge. However, problems remain. Useful indigenous knowledge may not be recognised by the educated; inappropriate formal knowledge may have greater authority and thus be applied in harmful ways; time spent in formal education may take away from important informal mechanisms for transmitting indigenous knowledge.

Score of 7–10

Adults have significant knowledge about natural resources and their management and pass it to their children. The next generation is interested in learning and using the knowledge and recognises its value. Useful indigenous knowledge may be integrated into a formal educational program; there may be a meshing of the two kinds of knowledge; or either kind of knowledge about natural resource management may be passed on successfully to the next generation.

I1.3.5 Destruction of natural resources by local communities is rare.

Score of 1–3

Examples of destruction are commonly reported and occasionally seen during field visits. Young people may irresponsibly set fire to neighbouring areas;' there may be grudge fires set by discontents; fishing with commercial poisons may be common; harvesting of forest products may be done in a careless way. Local people do not recognise the destruction as serious and/or they do not feel they can do anything about it.

Score of 4-6

Although destruction occasionally occurs, it is not common. Such destruction is recognised as a problem, and attempts (not always successful) are made to deal with the problem.

⁷ One caveat: In many humid tropical forest areas where swidden cultivation is the norm, fires set to clear forest for agricultural fields are part of a sustainable process, resulting in only temporary destruction that is part of a recurring cycle.

Score of 7-10

Destructive events are rare, and people maintain that destruction of natural resources is a bad thing. When people destroy things unnecessarily there are mechanisms for punishing them and for making amends.

I1.3.6 People maintain spiritual or emotional links to the land.

Score of 1–3

All spiritual links to (or other comparable links that motivate people to have a responsibility toward or sense of oneness with) the land have been destroyed (or have never existed). People see themselves as quite separate from the forest in which they live. They recognise no responsibility for the health of their forest.

Score of 4-6

Although spiritual links to the land and forests exist, they are often considered secondary to economic uses of the land and forests. There are some rituals that expressly link people to the land, but they may be dying out (in some cases, due to ridicule by outsiders or more powerful stakeholders). Or the people in the area may be newcomers who originated in a non-forested area.

Score of 7-10

The forest is seen as something of spiritual/cultural value and its maintenance is accepted as an important part of people's lives. They recognise their dependence on it, and feel a sense of responsibility or stewardship toward it. Rituals and other evidence of this connection may be observable during fieldwork and/or can be described by local people. There is evidence of this value being passed down to younger generations.

- P2. Concerned stakeholders have acknowledged rights and means to manage forests cooperatively and equitably. (Total value = 30%)
- C2.1 Effective mechanisms exist for two-way communication related to forest management among stakeholders. (Weighting factor 10%)
- I2.1.1 > 50% of timber company personnel and forestry officials speak one or more local languages, or > 50% of local women^s speak the language used by the timber company in local interactions.

Score of 1-3

Virtually no timber company personnel or forestry officials speak any of the local languages and almost none of the local people speak the language of the timber company personnel or the forestry officials.

Score of 4-6

Although an increasing number of stakeholders speak a common language, many still do not. This is particularly true of the women (who are less likely to speak national languages).

Score of 7-10

Virtually all local stakeholders share at least one common language.

I2.1.2 Local stakeholders meet with satisfactory frequency, representation of local diversity, and quality of interaction.

Score of 1–3

Members of different stakeholder/user groups rarely or never meet. Many express a reluctance to do so.

Score of 4–6

Communication occurs among a reasonably diverse set of local stakeholders (though women are likely to be drastically *under*-represented, as are certain disadvantaged ethnic groups), with some discomfort or tension. The process is not particularly easy.

Score of 7–10

There are numerous occasions in which various stakeholders voluntarily meet and discuss issues of relevance for forest management in the area. Such occasions include women and representatives of other marginalised groups (if they exist) interacting in a pro-active manner with other stakeholders. There is a sense of mutual respect among participants.

8 Women's language skills are a particularly good indicator since women are most often marginalised vis-à-vis local men in interaction with outsiders such as timber company personnel.

I2.1.3 Contributions made by all stakeholders are mutually respected and valued at a generally satisfactory level.

Score of 1-3

On the rare occasions when different kinds of stakeholders meet, their interaction is marked by social unpleasantness. One common pattern is disdain on the part of the timber company officials and fear or subservience on the part of the local community. Or there may be mutual disdain, fear, anger, distrust, and/or resentment, openly expressed.

Score of 4-6

Evidence of disrespect and antagonism remains in interactions among stakeholders (e.g., disdain from those in power; fear from those below), but there is also evidence that the less powerful can express and successfully negotiate some of their wishes. Stakeholders may express antagonism toward each other, but they qualify such expressions with some recognition of the contributions and rights of other stakeholders.

Score of 7-10

- There is little evidence of negative attitudes by company officials and by community members and workers. Stakeholders freely express their mutual respect for each other. There may also be social movement of individuals from one stakeholder group to another.
- C2.2 Local stakeholders have detailed, reciprocal knowledge pertaining to forest resource use (including user groups and gender roles), as well as forest management plans prior to implementation. (Weighting factor = 10%)

I2.2.1 Plans/maps showing integration of uses by different stakeholders exist.

Score of 1–3

The company's plans and maps (if they exist) give no indication that there are any other stakeholders involved. They may have been created in some distant place, and no input from local stakeholders can be found. No mechanisms exist for gaining such input.

Score of 4-6

Plans and maps have been made locally with some input from local people. There may be incomplete representation of the many local uses of the forest, but some progress has been made in that direction. Local people can specify how that input occurred, and company officials can specify how they try to get such input.

Score of 7-10

Plans/maps available from the company clearly show the different local uses of the forest by various stakeholders. Mechanisms exist for regular updates. I2.2.2 Updated plans, baseline studies and maps are widely available, outlining logging details such as cutting areas and road construction, and include temporal aspects.

Score of 1–3

No plans, baseline studies or maps pertaining to natural resource use are seen in the villages, in local offices, or on local walls or billboards.

Score of 4-6

Plans, studies and maps have been seen by local people, but rarely. Getting access to those resources is not always easy, or such information may be incomplete (showing cutting areas without a timeline, for instance).

Score of 7-10

Every village visited has recent and fairly complete information on the plans and activities of the timber company, and/or the people knew where to get and update such information easily.

I2.2.3 Baseline studies of local human systems are available and consulted.

Score of 1–3

There are no studies of local human systems in or near the timber company, and no timber company official has heard of any such studies.

Score of 4–6

The timber company has seen a few studies, and even conducted a few of its own (perhaps required by a government program). In some cases, those who conducted the studies may have been trained as foresters rather than social scientists, and the studies reflect a somewhat biased view of local people (often emphasising their 'backwardness' or 'primitiveness' or 'low level of human resources capability' rather than their indigenous knowledge or their potential contributions to natural resource management in the area).

Score of 7–10

The timber company office has a small library with information about the communities in the area and its own workers. These may include ethnographic studies, government and NGO reports, papers by scholars, consultants' reports, etc. The available literature reflects a variety of perspectives, including positive attitudes toward local people. I2.2.4 Management staff recognises the legitimate interests and rights of other stakeholders.

Score of 1–3

The management staff consistently insists on the company's rights over and above those of any other stakeholders. Local people are seen as 'encroachers', 'wild cutters', 'poachers', and other derogatory names that reflect the view that local people do not have legitimate interests and rights in the area.

Score of 4-6

The management has recently begun to recognise that other stakeholders may have some interests and rights in the area, and they have begun to try to acknowledge those interests and rights. However, they regularly 'back-slide', using terms that reflect a less open view of forest management. They are also often tempted to refer to the laws of the country (which in many cases do not recognise the interests and rights of other stakeholders).

Score of 7-10

Most of the management staff express the idea that there are various stakeholders who have legitimate interests and rights in forest management. This perspective can be seen in the terms they use, the statements they make, and the literature they let the assessors read.

I2.2.5 Management of NTFPs reflects the interests and rights of local stakeholders.

Score of 1–3

The company's management plans may contain no reference to NTFPs at all; or they may have rules that regulate their own use of NTFP, ignoring the uses of other stakeholders. There are no mechanisms to gain input from other stakeholders and no evidence of concern about the sustainability of NTFPs resources.

Score of 4-6

There is some attention in management plans to NTFPs, but there is incomplete coverage of local people's uses. There may also be incomplete coverage of NTFPs (focusing only, for instance, on ones the timber company finds interesting). There may also be inadequate mechanisms for gaining input from all relevant user groups (particularly women or marginalised groups).

Score of 7-10

The company's management plans have a clear discussion of NTFPs, with relevant rights and responsibilities. The sustainability of NTFP resources is addressed in the plan. There is obvious attention to the uses of other stakeholders, and there are mechanisms that show how that input is obtained from a variety of stakeholders.

C2.3 Agreement exists on rights and responsibilities of relevant stakeholders (Weighting factor = 10%)

I2.3.1 Level of conflict is acceptable to stakeholders.

Score of 1–3

Conflict is frequent and acrimonious. Each stakeholder has a different story to tell about the latest problems with other stakeholders. People acknowledge that there is too much conflict, and express their inability to resolve it.

Score of 4-6

Conflicts about rights and responsibilities of different stakeholders are not uncommon. But the basis for the conflict is understood and the procedure for resolving the conflict is at least partially accepted. There may be some scepticism about different stakeholders' actually performing their responsibilities and perhaps some suspicion that they are exceeding their rights.

Score of 7-10

There may be virtually no conflict. Or there may be some conflict, but with general agreement about rights and responsibilities to manage the forests. Conflicts are understood, and mechanisms exist to resolve them. All parties have adequate faith in these mechanisms.

P3. The health of forest actors, cultures and the forest is acceptable to all stakeholders. (Value = 30%)

C3.1 There is a recognisable balance between human activities and environmental conditions (Weighting factor = 10%).

I3.1.1 Environmental conditions affected by human uses are stable or improving.⁹

Score of 1–3

Natural resource use systems are in disrepair. For example, fallow cycles for shifting cultivation have been drastically reduced; Soil fertility and erosion problems are rampant; Fires frequently burnout of control; The level of production of forest products (NTFPs, fish, wildlife) has decreased dramatically in recent years; biodiversity is decreasing.

Score of 4-6

Natural resource use systems still function, but there are signs of potential problems. Lengths of fallows have been declining, though not precipitously. There may be some soil fertility and erosion problems emerging. People still harvest NTFPs (including fish and wildlife), but complain that there is less available to them than previously.

Score of 7-10

Natural resource use systems (particularly agriculture) are in good shape. Fallow cycles in shifting cultivation systems are long enough to maintain and/or improve soil fertility. Fires are successfully controlled at a level that local people consider good. Fishing and hunting success is good (equal to, or better than, in the past). Non-timber forest products are thriving to the same extent as previously (or better).

I3.1.2 Inmigration and/or natural population increases are in harmony with maintaining the forest.

Score of 1-3

There have been dramatic influxes of migrants from other areas who plan to live by direct dependence on local natural resources; and/or there has been a dramatic increase in the rate of natural population increase, without alternatives to direct dependence on local natural resources. There are no official programs to grant people access to family planning methods, or to design subsistence strategies that do not rely directly on natural resources in the area.

Score of 4-6

- Population levels are rising somewhat, and there is concern that local 'carrying capacity' may be exceeded (difficult as that concept is to define). People recognise a shortage of land for their agricultural needs, but conditions are not yet critical. There may be government and/or private industry plans to bring in additional families to the area (or spontaneous inmigration), with some attention to population-land issues. Family planning may be available in some settings, but not in others; or there may be significant problems with acceptance of the idea for other reasons, though efforts continue to make it available.
- ⁹ These indicators are clearly closely linked to the ecological indicators, available elsewhere.

Score of 7–10

Population levels are stable and 'in sync' with the local environment; or successful alternatives to direct dependence on local natural resource use have been devised (successful intensification of agriculture, development of industry or tourism¹⁰). There is little concern about land availability for subsistence needs. Government and private industry's plans for the area recognise and accommodate the need to balance human population with local resources. Family planning services are available and considered acceptable by local stakeholders.

C3.2 The relationship between forest management and human health is recognised. (Weighting factor = 10%)

I3.2.1 Forest managers cooperate with public health authorities regarding illnesses related to forest management.

Score of 1–3

There is no contact between public health authorities and the timber company, in cases directly related to the company's activities. Examples include 1) AIDS and other STDs are rampant due to sex ratio imbalances and resulting prostitution in logging camps, 2) the incidence of malaria and other mosquito-borne illnesses has increased due to bad logging practices (especially ponding and interference with the habitats of mosquito predators), 3) air pollution caused by field burning for the establishment of pulp and paper plantations has increased respiratory and ocular problems, 4) violent logging accidents are common, and/or 5) violence among workers from different ethnic groups characterise base camp life.

Score of 4-6

Public health authorities have some interaction with the timber company, though not much. The company provides some medical services to people in the area, but does not accept responsibility fully to monitor health problems related to logging activities. The company may take a very narrow view of its responsibility (e.g., only logging accidents); or it may do a rather uneven job of monitoring and notification. Significant, but not horrific, problems exist in terms of accidents, inter-ethnic violence, incidence of STDs, air and water pollution, and mosquito-borne diseases.

Score of 7–10

Public health authorities maintain records partially based on information provided by the logging company about the health of the people living in and near the forest; the company may support its own health clinics and provide medical coverage of others as well, particularly for health problems directly related to the company's activities. The incidence of AIDS, STDs, malaria, dengue fever, violent accidents, and other illnesses/problems potentially related to logging activities is stable or decreasing.

¹⁰ The term 'successful' is important here, as most such attempts in tropical areas have not been successful.

I3.2.2 Nutritional status is adequate among local populations.

Score of 1-3

Diets may consist largely of starch and have inadequate variety and/or amounts. Obesity is regarded as attractive and desireable. Listlessness is common. There may be many examples of goiter, night blindness, chronic fatigue, and chronic illnesses such as malaria and tuberculosis. Children's growth may be significantly lower than international standards of height for weight and/or children may have pot bellies and skinny arms. Infant and below-5's mortality rates may be high. Women may be anaemic and show signs of calcium deficiency, especially during pregnancy.

Score of 4-6

Although there is generally enough food to eat, older people and the very young may be too thin. Apparently healthy active women may complain of aching bones during pregnancy. Teeth problems may be common in all ages (including complete loss at early ages). The local diet may be overly dependent on carbohydrates or contain too much sugar, caffeine and/or alcohol.

Score of 7–10

- People can eat three meals a day, and their diet is varied (including all the important vitamins, minerals, protein and sources of energy). Most people appear healthy and strong. Intake of sugar, caffeine and/or alcohol is generally within healthy limits. Mortality and morbidity levels are low for all age groups.
- 13.2.3 Forest employers follow ILO work and safety conditions and take responsibility for the forestrelated health risks of workers.

Score of 1-3

Virtually no loggers are seen wearing protective clothing (hard hats, steel-toed boots, jeans, gloves); equipment is seen to be in poor working condition; safety guards and other safety features may have been removed from logging equipment; reckless driving of log trucks is obvious. The company managers and foremen do not appear concerned about safety. There are no safety training procedures or manuals in evidence. No medical care facilities are available at the base camp. Accidental injury or death is neither uncommon nor considered the responsibility of the company.

Score of 4–6

The company has safety regulations, but they are followed erratically. There is considerable individual choice about following safety regulations; and there is a fairly high accident rate. The company may accept responsibility for accidental injury and/or death, but may not consistently pay the recompense promised. There may be little or no formal training in safety precautions; and uneven provision of safety equipment, or uneven maintenance of equipment's safety features. Minimal medical care is available at the base camp.

Score of 7–10

The company has a training program for all new employees and refresher courses for longer term employees focusing on safety. It supplies workers with safety equipment and specifies procedures for ensuring that equipment is regularly checked for safety and that workers' behaviour is monitored for compliance with safety regulations. Loggers are seen using protective clothing and safe, well maintained equipment. There are sanctions specified when people do not follow safety regulations. The company takes financial responsibility for accidental injury and/or death, by means of insurance or other mechanisms. The base camp has a fully operational clinic for dealing with severe injuries. Signs reminding workers about safety issues are visible in work settings.

C3.3 The relationship between forest maintenance and human culture is acknowledged as important. (Weighting factor = 10%)

I3.3.1 Forest managers can explain links between relevant human cultures and the local forest.

Score of 1–3

Company managers exhibit an obvious lack of interest in, and respect for, local people's culture (beliefs, norms, and customary behaviour). They tend to be noticeably ignorant of the ways of life of local people, often considering them backward or even disgusting. They may have no idea that local people have any knowledge of their forests.

Score of 4–6

Although there is some awareness on the part of company officials that local people have their own ways of life, and that there may be some positive elements to their cultures, this knowledge is very fragmentary. There may also remain a significant feeling about the inferiority of local people (due perhaps to their low level of wealth, power, or technological expertise). Openness to the involvement of local people in management may be limited to a very 'top-down' approach, in which the company 'calls the shots'.

Score of 7-10

Forest managers know how local traditional cultures work. They may be able to explain, for instance, the link between long fallows in the people's agroforestry system and soil regeneration. Or they may know the cosmological views of local people about the roles of particular species in the forest; taboos about entry into particular areas; and indigenous knowledge that local people have about wildlife behaviour and management. There is a widespread recognition among company officials that managing the forests sustainably will require drawing on the knowledge, values, and action of local people, as much as on that of other stakeholders.

I3.3.2 Forest management plans reflect care in handling human cultural issues.

Score of 1-3

Forest management plans include no compromise or recognition of the cultural uses of the forest by local people. Sacred groves, cemeteries, and areas set aside for future generations may be logged without consultation with local people. Company-supported areas of prostitution may be set up within community boundaries. Communities voice numerous complaints about the company's behaviour.

Score of 4-6

There is some understanding and concern within the company about local cultural issues. Although management plans only partially incorporate such cultural issues, there is evidence that the company feels some obligation to address them. When problems arise, meetings do occur with local people to discuss recompense; but these are plagued by problems (e.g., the meetings happen after the area has been logged, the recompense offered is considered unfair, or promised recompense does not materialise).

Score of 7-10

Forest management plans are drawn up with a clear understanding of human cultural issues. There are transparent mechanisms for determining what important cultural issues may be affected by logging in the area, with additional mechanisms for updating of information and for conflict resolution. There is little evidence of frequent transgressions by the logging company.

I3.3.3 There is no significant increase in signs of cultural disintegration.

Score of 1–3

Thievery, prostitution, wanton destruction, and violent crime may be serious problems. Children may be abandoned or left unsupervised. People express confusion and ambivalence about their own values or profess none. Stress levels seem high, interest in life low. There may be extreme sex ratio imbalances. Cultural traditions and values fall by the wayside, or are possibly replaced by imitations of western ones, possibly picked up from television or other media; cultural values are not passed on to the younger generation.

Score of 4-6

There may be considerable inter-ethnic conflict, and some sex ratio imbalance. There may be some indications that traditional survival strategies are not fully functioning (perhaps because of an inordinate dependence on the timber company). Rituals and ceremonies continue but with less enthusiasm than previously.

Score of 7–10

Local systems of belief appear to remain integrated and functional. People of all generations express pride in their own way of life and their traditional value systems. Traditional rituals remain in evidence and their subsistence/economic system remains intact or exhibits incremental improvement.

Master C&I Spreadsheet

ŢΙ

he CIFOR C&I Toolbox Series includes two tools specifically devoted to social science methods for assessing human well-being. These tools, *The BAG* and *The Grab Bag*, are designed for assessors with various levels of expertise in social sciences, as is *The Scoring and Analysis Guide*. In this section, we lead users who lack experience in computer use or in social sciences, through the process of setting up an Excel spreadsheet for use in dealing systematically with qualitative and quantitative observations and results pertaining to the social C&I. We also provide examples of the kinds of evidence that you can use in supporting your assessment of human conditions, and ways conditions have been scored by several assessors in one location.

THE MASTER SPREADSHEET

The master spreadsheet is a mechanism for dealing systematically with the plethora of qualitative (and some quantitative) data that will emerge during the process of your assessment of human well-being. It is mentioned repeatedly in *The BAG and The Grab Bag*, as one way to systematize your observations. By beginning with an Excel spreadsheet¹¹ listing the principles, criteria, and indicators, you can gradually fill in examples, cases, evidence, and other material that pertains to each of these issues.

Create a master spreadsheet such as that shown in Figure 1, showing all the social principles, criteria, and indicators in your list (e.g., CIFOR *Generic C&I Template*) in the first column (A). By inserting additional rows between each issue, you can insert full explanations of your case material, beginning in Column B (*cf.* Table 1), as you collect it. Table 1 is an adapted version of part of a master spreadsheet

¹¹ It is also possible to follow this procedure without benefit of a computer; it's just simpler with one!

dealing with security of intergenerational access to resources (Colfer *et al.* 1996). In this summary example, cases from Danau Sentarum Wildlife Reserve (DSWR) in West Kalimantan were listed and scored. These are presented to give a 'real world' example of an assessment and the kinds of data that were recorded. You can later compile these cases into summary scores, for ease of presentation (as in Table 2, from the same source).

One important addition not included in Table 1 is the source of the information. The source might be 'personal observation at a wedding', 'a Punan man of about 30 years with a grade school education', or 'general discussion at an Iban women's meeting'. These sources can be entered below each case, beginning in Column C. The importance of including the source relates to your need subsequently to evaluate the veracity and potential bias of each bit of case material or evidence. After compiling a number of bits of information, you will assess (score) each case for its contribution to sustainability (using the scoring guide at the beginning of this manual).

Once you have assessed the sustainability value of each case, these scores can be averaged within each indicator to get an assessment for the indicator. Be alert in case there is evidence you consider particularly important or telling that may need extra weight in the assessment. You can follow the same process with indicators — averaging them to get an assessment for each criterion; and averaging the scores for criteria can yield an assessment for each principle.
You can obtain an overall average score on your spreadsheet by following this procedure:

- 1. judge the sustainability of your examples and case material;
- assign scores to each case/example (as evidence regarding the indicators, as in Table 2);
- 3. average the scores for all the cases providing evidence relating to indicators for a particular criterion;
- 4. multiply that average score by a weighting factor within the social C&I (e.g., 15% for Criterion 1.1 'Local management is effective in controlling maintenance of and access to the resource'); and
- 5. average these values, determined for each criterion, to provide a value for the principle (e.g., P1 is weighted at 40% of the social C&I), and ultimately for the whole set of social C&I.

To get a score for the principle (1), 'Forest management maintains or enhances fair intergenerational access to resources and economic benefits', you would apply the following formula:

Score (C.1) x Weight (C.1) + Score (C.2) x Weight (C.2) + Score (C.3) x Weight (C.3)

Where the weights for C.1, C.2 and C.3 are 0.15, 0.15 and 0.1, respectively.

Criteria and indicators for human well being, overall, are classified under three principles, with the following weightings:

P1	Forest management maintains or enhances fair intergenerational access to resources and economic benefits. W1 = 40%
P2	Concerned stakeholders have acknowledged rights and means to manage forests cooperatively and equitably. W2 = 30%
P3	The health of forest actors, cultures and the forest is acceptable to all stakeholders. $W3 = 30\%$

To score the level of human well-being in the area you are assessing, you can simply average your scores, using this formula:

Human well-being = [P1(score) x W1] + [P2 (score) x W2] + [P3 (score) x W3]

Where P1 = Principle 1 and W1 = the weighting factor for that principle.

It is important to remember that this procedure is simply a way to systematise and record your observations and judgements. It helps you remember what you have seen, helps keep you focused on the C&I of interest, and helps you identify gaps in your knowledge as you proceed through the assessment. As noted above, there is nothing sacrosanct about the values you give or the averages you compute. They simply reflect your qualitative judgement, based on systematic observation, about human conditions on the site. Their value is relative rather than absolute.

FIGURE 1.

Computer screen showing part of a Master C&I spreadsheet (ex. Social Principle 2: 'Concerned stakeholders have acknowledged rights and means to manage forests cooperatively and equitably').

🔀 Microsoft Excel	- Master	C&I2.xls								-	ЫN
Eile <u>E</u> dit ⊻iew	Insert F	ormat <u>T</u> ools	: <u>D</u> ata <u>W</u> i	ndow <u>H</u> elp						_ 2	P ×
▯跑ຬ₽₽₽₽₽	₩SC X I	à C 💅	≌Э + С⊻ +	8	$\Sigma f_{*} \stackrel{A}{\simeq}$		👰 🚯 80	1% 🗕 📿			
Arial	▼ 10 ▼	BIU		B 🔤 💲 🤅	% ,	8 ₊08 🚛	t 🗉 🗉 🔹	ð • <u>A</u> •			
A297	-	=									
A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н		J	K	
295											
296 P.2. Concerned	Stakehol	ders Have A	cknowled	ged Rights	and Mea	ans to Ma	nage Coop	eratively a	nd Equitab	ly	
297											
298	Avg	j. Score for	<u>(P).2</u>								
299				_						-	
300 (C).2.1. Effective	e mechani	sms exist fo	r two way	communica	tion rela	ted to for	est manage	ment amon	g stakehol	ders	
301	•	0 0 0	<u> </u>								
302	Avg.	Score for (CJ.2.1								
303	- C. V C			6		,					
304(1), 2.7.7, > 50%	of timper (No of loo of	company per	sonnei and	torestry offic	cials spec	эк one or i	more local la	inguage,			
305 Of >00	% of local	women spea	ik the langi.	lage used bj	/ the time	per compai	ny in iocai ir	teraction			
200	0	Seere for (211								
207	Avy.	SCOLE IOI (I	J.Z. I. I								
309 /0 212 (ocal a	takahalda	re maat with	estisfactor	r frequency	ronroeon	tation of la	cal divareitu	and quality	of interact	ion	
310	lanenourei	3 meet with	Janoracion	у пецаенсу,	represen		car unversity	, anu quanty	or interacti	00	-
311	Δνα	Score for (l	212								
312	- Arg.	i) 101 01000	,								
313 (I). 2.1.3. The col	ntributions	of all staker	holders are	mutually res	pected a	nd valued .	at a general	lv satisfacto	nv level		
314								,	.,		
315	Ava.	Score for (I).2.1.3								
316											
317											
H I I I Sheet1 / S	heet2 / She	eet3 /				1					١Ē
Ready										NUM	

TABLE 1.

Sample listing of cases (on Social Principle 1: 'Forest management maintains or enhances fair intergenerational access to resources and economic benefits'), with associated scoring, from Danau Sentarum Wildlife Reserve, 1996

In this table, (C) refers to Colfer and (W) to Wadley. Each indicator is numbered consecutively within each criterion. Numbered cases are presented under each indicator. Colfer and Wadley scored each case. Although Wadley saw Colfer's scoring before he did his own, he made every effort to score according to his own views. These scores have been averaged by Indicator in Table 2.

(C) 1: Local management is effective in controlling maintenance of and access to the resource

(I) 1.1 Ownership and use rights to resources (inter- and intragenerational) are clear and respect preexisting claims¹²

- Ng. Kedebu', Bukit Rancong, and Danau Seluang residents have permission to reside in the Lakes area from their respective 'mother villages' on the Kapuas. None has been permanently inhabited for more than a few decades, and many residents of all three communities are seasonal. On the other hand, each community has its fairly clearly, albeit extra-legally, defined territory.
 C = 7; W = 7 (Melayu)
- 2. Wong Garai lost effective control over large portions of its traditional territories (see Figure 4). Its small numbers have not required constant use of the entire area, and its ethic of generosity has prompted them to allow others to settle on the land in the past. This reduction in territory is not accompanied by any sense of animosity toward the people now occupying that land, who are by and large relatives, or historically connected to the people of Wong Garai (i.e., not outsiders).
 C = 5: W = 5 (Iban)
- 3. In 1989, Wong Garai was able to save a significant tract of old growth forest from being logged. Wong Garai territory falls within the P.T. Militer concession, but the people appealed to the district and regional governments and received important help from one of its own who was a member of the regency legislature at the time. The forest was declared a protected area by the regency head (see Colfer and Wadley 1996). C = 7; W = 7 (Iban)
- 4. Kelayang residents gave permission some time ago for a Melayu community to reside on Kelayang land. The Melayu community has recently been trying to claim the land as its own, including making official requests to local government officials. So far Kelayang has been able to resist the claim. The Melayu community relates to the administrative boundaries of the modern district of which it is a part, whereas the Iban refer to their traditional system (old longhouse sites and cemeteries serve as evidence of their rights).
 C = 3; W = 3 (Iban; Melayu)

¹² Our emphasis here is on local ownership and use rights, but we might add that there is considerable difference of opinion about actual rights to resources, with local people feeling the resources belong to them, and the Government considering the resources to belong to the Nation.

5. By 1996 Bemban, in co-operation with other Iban communities and their leaders in the district capitol of Badau, had succeeded in persuading the managers of a plantation and a concession (both far along in the planning and early implementation stages by 1993) to abandon their plans to work in Bemban territory (partly related to local claims for compensation¹³ related to *pulau*, protected forest groves, and *tembawai*, previous longhouse sites).

C = 6; W = 6 (Iban)

6. Bemban was legally defined as part of the Melayu community of Pulau Duri' in 1989. Since that time, Pulau Duri' has tried to convert to ownership its freely granted use rights in agricultural land in Bemban's traditional area (lent to Pulau Duri' on a long-term basis). So far Bemban has successfully resisted this attempt to confiscate part of its traditional area.

C = 7 (Iban); C = 2; W = 2 (Melayu)

- (I) 1.2 Rules and norms of resource use are monitored and enforced¹⁴
- Ng. Kedebu' residents expressed 'righteous anger' at other nearby communities whose members came and collected rattan or caught fish in their territory, contrary to Ng. Kedebu' regulations.
 C = 7; W = 7 (Melayu)
- 2. A logging crew that had not asked permission was discovered in Bemban's territory. On July 1, all the village men went together, first to Pulau Duri' (where the official village headman lived) and then on to the camp in the forest, to question the intentions of the logging crew. C = 5; W = 5 (Iban)
- 3. A group of Bemban children and young women went out to the *tembawai* (previous longhouse site) to collect ferns for supper. They explained that only people from the community could collect ferns in this area. A young girl took the jackfruit Colfer was carrying, saying that Colfer might be fined for taking the fruit, whereas the girl herself was allowed to do so (see Sandin 1980). C = 8; W = 8 (Iban)
- 4. In 1994, residents of Wong Garai noticed members of another longhouse making moves to begin farming on Wong Garai's lowland swamp forests. Although the other longhouse had been given limited swamp land in the past, some people were attempting to expand their holdings without permission. A hearing at Wong Garai was called, and a major dispute was avoided, with the other people withdrawing their intent to farm that forest (see Wadley 1997). Since then, people of Wong Garai have expressed their need and desire to preserve their lowland swamp forests for their own use in the future.¹⁵
 C = 9; W = 9 (Iban)
- 13 Compensation was reportedly claimed and received in the amount of Rp. 20 million (roughly US\$ 8500), based on losses of fruit trees, determined by *adat* (or local customary law).
- ¹⁴ Again, our emphasis is on local rules and regulations. But there is a host of rules and regulations from different parts of the Ministry of Forestry which are not normally monitored or enforced (e.g., the government forester who neither knew the regulations on timber harvesting nor who was supposed to enforce them; or Conservation Project personnel who manage the Wildlife Reserve but regularly ignore purple herons and storm's storks tied to Melayu rafts, and macaques and small birds kept as pets by the Iban.
- ¹⁵ One impetus for this may be the ever-increasing threat of transmigration into the area down-river from Wong Garai 200 families from Java.

5. Occasionally during the early 1990s, the people of Wong Garai have been approached by outsiders requesting permission to search for *gaharu* or aromatic eaglewood (*Aquilaria* spp.), in Wong Garai forests. Invariably, and despite misgivings, the Iban have granted access to their forests, occasionally joining the search, with the promise of recompense (fees, sharing of harvest, or purchase). Also invariably, the community felt cheated, and complained amongst themselves (that some *gaharu* was hidden, or the work was harder than payments justified). Although this suggests naiveté on the part of the Iban to outsiders, it actually represents a deeply felt ethic of generosity and hospitality, making refusal extremely difficult (see Peluso 1994, Colfer *et al.* (1997), for a similar pattern among other Dayaks). C = 4: W = 4 (Iban)

(I) 1.3 Means of conflict resolution function without violence

- 1. In the late 1980s, Wong Garai had a land dispute with a neighbouring longhouse. In years past, Wong Garai had allowed members of the other longhouse to farm land within Wong Garai territory, but later the other longhouse claimed the land as its own. It brought the case before the *temenggong* (traditional law leader) for a hearing, and the *temenggong* decided that the two disputants should divide the land. Wong Garai refused to accept the decision (which is locally agreed to be its right), arguing that the other longhouse has no *tembawai* (old longhouse sites) on Wong Garai territory which would mark its claim to the land. [See also (I)1.2, case 4] C = 8; W = 8 (Iban)
- Ng. Kedebu' residents had frequent disagreements with P.T. Hutan Hebat, a timber company which regularly towed log rafts through Ng. Kedebu' territory. One community member served as a tugboat pilot for the company, and also as an informal mediator in resolving these disputes. There was grumbling with regard to levels of compensation for damage to local fishing gear, but the system seemed to work.
 C = 8; W = 8 (Melayu)
- 3. In 1994, several Iban merchants used large quantities of commercial pesticides to produce a major kill of fish for sale in Malaysia. This event killed hundreds of cages of fish which Ng. Kedebu' (and other) community members kept as 'savings accounts' all along the Tawang River. Local ire was so great that the Conservation Project, local and regional government officials, the police, and the military got involved in resolving the dispute. Ultimately, all the communities in and around DSWR signed a pact not to use poison. C = 4; W = 4 (Melayu)
- 4. Danau Seluang residents told a story from 1982–83, when Iban living up-river from Danau Seluang used fish poison eleven times.¹⁶ Each time the people complained and reported it to the authorities; no action was taken. This finally prompted the community itself to poison fish, in retribution. This in turn prompted governmental action, and resulted in a reduction in fish poisoning for a while.
 C = 6; W = 6 (Iban, Melayu)

¹⁶ Wadley points out that there may have been conflicting perceptions of traditional use rights, with the Iban in question possibly considering this their right. Similar differences of opinion are possible in many of these cases.

(I) 1.4 Access to forest resources is perceived locally to be fair

 In Ng. Kedebu', logs had recently been quietly removed from passing P.T. Hutan Hebat log rafts. The logs were to be sawn into lumber and used to build a mosque. This action was agreed to by community members and justified with reference to the profits being gained by timber companies, vis-à-vis local benefits from local resources.

C = 2; W = 2 (Melayu)

- 2. Forest fires occurred extensively in 1992 (the last really dry year) in Danau Seluang's territory. This resulted in a significant reduction in the availability of rattan and timber, and losses connected with about 500 wooden *tikung* (bee hives), which serve as artificial bees' nests. Burning was variously described as purposeful and related to outsiders' envy or anger because they were denied permission to harvest; or entirely due to carelessness. C = 3; W = 3 (Melayu)
- 3. See also (I) 1.2, Case 5. C = 4; W = 4 (Iban)
- 4. Among the Melayu communities, use of *jermal padat* (a large fishing net) is considered unfair. The nets are large and expensive, and only a few residents have the means to buy them. Furthermore, they are efficient in catching fish, reducing the amount available for other fishers with access only to more labour-intensive fishing techniques.

C = 2; W = 2 (Melayu)

(I) 1.5 Local people feel secure about access to resources

- Wong Garai shares access to some forest and riverine land with another longhouse. There is some concern that this
 is leading to over-exploitation, particularly of riverine resources (e.g., fish). People are also concerned about
 their future ability to collect fish in the Lakes area during the dry season something they have been doing
 for at least 150 years and to which they make traditional use claims given the increasing presence of Melayu
 in traditional Iban use areas and the possibility that the government will begin to enforce its own very different boundaries in the future.
 C = 5; W = 5 (Iban)
- 2. In early 1994, the Wong Garai headman received a letter from the district office in Lubok Rian, explaining that there would be military people passing through the area doing a large mapping project for all the border districts. About a month later, soldiers came to Wong Garai territory, ferried in on helicopters to an open site some distance from the longhouse. The soldiers stayed for a few days in the forest, but never made contact with the longhouse. Wong Garai residents were upset about this as it is locally regarded as a breach of common courtesy. They viewed such lack of concern for proper etiquette as a sign of arrogance and as a reflection of their own powerlessness in the situation.

C = 4; W = 4 (Iban)

- 3. Throughout the DSWR area, concern is expressed that others (e.g., timber companies, other ethnic groups, transmigrants) are encroaching on areas of traditional use, which could threaten the ability of community residents to use those resources in the future. For the Iban, the concern is more about their forest resources; whereas for the Melayu, the concern revolves around fisheries resources. C = 4; W = 4 (Iban; Melayu)
- 4. In Bemban, Ng. Kedebu', and Kelayang, many people expressed the conviction that they had recognised and legitimate rights to the areas and resources they were using despite the presence of other stakeholders (especially the Conservation Project and timber companies) who were in competition for those resources.
 C = 8; W = 8 (Iban; Melayu)

(C) 2: Forest actors have a reasonable share in the economic benefits derived from forest use

- (I) 2.1 Opportunities exist for local people/forest-dependent people to get employment and training from forest companies
- Very few residents within and around DSWR work for the timber concessions. Most workers are brought in from the outside. Kelayang is in the P.T. Panggau Libau concession, partially owned by Iban from the Lubok Rian area, some of whom are related to Kelayang residents. Although Kelayang economic involvement with this company is greater than that found between other companies such as P.T. Militer or P.T. Hutan Hebat) and local communities, there are still recurring conflicts (see Colfer and Wadley 1996). These include perceptions of inadequate employment opportunities, promised but unpaid rent on land, requests for rattan which is then not bought, and unfair recompense when a community member was killed by a company speedboat.
 C = 3; W = 3 (Iban)
- 2. In Ng. Kedebu', only one person is considered to have had a long-term relationship with the timber company. Young men occasionally work for a while with timber companies, but the perception of some people is that when fishing is good, the young men will leave the company. This may mean that incomes from fishing (and related economic endeavours) are better than incomes from the company.
 C = 2; W = 2 (Melayu)
- 3. See also (I) 2.3, Case 1. C = 2; W = 2 (Melayu)

(I) 2.2 Damages are compensated in a fair manner

 In 1992, a sub-contractor with P. T. Militer/P.T. Hutan Hebat paid Bemban one portable, 500-watt generator for the right to harvest an unknown number of hectares in Bemban's traditional area. Local people are becoming more astute, though they often lack power and voice in demanding justice.
 C = 2; W = 2 (Iban)

(I) 2.3 Wages and other benefits conform to national and/or ILO standards

1. The workers Colfer spoke with — a mixture of locals and newcomers — considered themselves to be reasonably well paid, with reasonable benefits, working conditions, and safety standards.¹⁷ On the other hand, Wadley found that Iban who have worked for Indonesian logging companies generally complain about the low wages locally (compared to what they could earn for comparable work in Malaysia), the dangerous conditions, and poor equipment. Quite a few from Wong Garai had worked for P.T. Panggau Libau and said they had never been paid and would never work there again.
C = 2; W = 2 (Iban)

- -, .. - (---..)

(I) 2.4 Fair mechanisms exist for sharing benefits with local communities

- In Ng. Kedebu' and Bukit Rancong, there was a feeling that funds made available to the Conservation Project from eco-tourists and payment of salaries and other in-kind help from the project were unfairly distributed.
 C = 2; W = 2 (Melayu)
- Payment of royalties to local communities, in recognition of their prior rights, has been suggested by some as a mechanism for sharing benefits more fairly. No royalties are paid to DSWR communities or those in the surrounding area. Various taxes are paid by companies to the Kapuas-based forestry agent, but these go to Pontianak (and a proportion also goes on to Jakarta, cf. Ascher 1993).
 C = 2; W = 2 (Melavu)
- 3. The Indonesian government requires that concessionaires implement HPH Bina Desa, or a 'village guidance' programme. This is designed to be carried out in a participatory manner, and can include income-generating projects, village structural improvements, agricultural improvements, and contributions to education, religion, or other community services (cf. Wentzel 1995). P.T. Panggau Libau (partially owned by local Iban a situation unique in our experience) provided us with a listing of churches and schools it had built, teachers' salaries it had paid, and so on. Despite this, there were significant complaints about the company's activities, from Kelayang (see above; and from Wadley's previous work from other communities as well). Most people queried throughout the reserve and its surroundings had never heard of HPH Bina Desa; the responses of the few who had (one of the district officers, an official in a timber concession) made it clear that the activity level was minimal.

C = 4; W = 4 (Iban, Melayu)

(C) 3: People link their and their children's future with management of forest resources

(I) 3.1 People invest in their surroundings (time, effort, money, etc.)

- 1. Recent building of numerous schools and mosques in DSWR area. C = 10; W = 10 (Melayu)
- As with the perception of security of tenure, local workers may have different perceptions than outside assessors. Local working conditions would not, for instance, comply with those proposed by previous CIFOR teams, or with ILO standards.

- 2. Enforcement of local regulations to protect resources. For the Melayu, this involves protecting special areas such as fish nurseries; prohibiting small mesh sizes and harvesting of fish under certain size; restricting access to rattan or valuable wood; outlawing burning; and for the Iban, maintenance of special forest preserves (*pulau*) and old longhouse sites (*tembawai*), and the prohibition against farming the peaks of mountains to allow for forest regeneration of swiddens (see Wadley *et al.* 1996). C = 10; W = 10 (Iban); C = 8 (Melayu)
- Increasing educational levels (with significant sacrifice and investment by both parents and children). This also has
 recognised and profound negative consequences, such as loss of traditional ecological land ritual knowledge,
 devaluing of traditional work and knowledge, and increased consumerism.
 C = 6; W = 6 (Iban; Melayu)

(I) 3.2 Outmigration levels are low

- There is seasonal migration into the Reserve, primarily from residents along the Kapuas with kinship links to the communities within the Reserve. The close economic and kinship ties between Reserve communities and their 'mother villages' along the Kapuas would make control of this seasonal population increase difficult as well. Many of those who started as seasonal fishers in the Reserve have settled in and built permanent homes there. Many also express a commitment to staying and making their community better for their children.
 C = 5; W = 5 (Melayu)
- 2. Iban men are regular circular migrants to Malaysia, where they work for the higher wages available there. They normally return home, bringing welcome booty with them (often at harvest time). C = 5; W = 5 (Iban)
- 3. Permanent outmigration does not appear to be common. There are numerous examples of young people who have gone away to school and returned; and middle-aged people who have gone away to work for a while but returned to contribute their new abilities and experience to their home community. C = 7; W = 7 (Iban; Melayu)

(I) 3.3 People recognise the need to balance numbers of people with natural resources

Birth control has been widely accepted — often linked to resource use issues. Iban women, however, recognising that families are better able to provide for fewer children, that they are freed from the real risk of death in pregnancy and childbirth, and that they can be more economically productive, worry that low or stable fertility levels among indigenous people like themselves may provide an excuse to move transmigrants into the area who may overwhelm them numerically.
 C = 7; W = 7 (Iban)

There appears to be considerable inmigration into the Reserve, with no effort or means to control it. Indeed, there is an ethic of hospitality which would make such control difficult without outside support.
 C = 3; W = 3 (Melayu)

3. See also (I) 3.2.

(I) 3.4 Children are educated (formally and/or informally) about natural resource management

- Selection by parents of a variety of disciplines for their children to pursue (within one family) with the expectation that when the children return home, such knowledge will be available to the family and community from which they come. We met a number of examples of young people who did just that.
 C = 5; W = 5 (Iban)
- 2. The Iban have a still-functioning system of land tenure and tree ownership rules and practice (see Wadley 1997), and maintain many rituals connected to farming. But they fear these 'old ways' the ritual chants, the rich ceremonial language, and farming and forest knowledge are being lost in the youth. Competition from national education and television is constant. In June 1996, for example, a set of important longhouse rituals was being performed at 1 a.m. (making of offerings, chanting of invocations to ancestor gods). At the same time, the young people had set up a stereo system to play Indonesian pop music at high volume, to which they 'disco-ed' at the other end of the longhouse. The resources of cultural and ecological knowledge (integral to sustainable management) which their immediate and distant ancestors have acquired were being lost. C = 4; W = 5 (Iban)

(I) 3.5 Destruction of natural resources by local communities is rare.¹⁸

 Recurrent poisoning of fish with commercial pesticides, largely by a minority of Iban merchants, but also by some Melayu.

C = 4; W = 4 (Iban; Melayu)

- Use of *jermal padat*, by a few comparatively wealthy Melayu (under a schizophrenic government policy). C=3;W=3 (Melayu)
- 3. Perceived over-harvesting of swamp forest (rawa) by local people current supplies of species available to local people are significantly reduced (tembesu', kawi, kelansau, medang, menyawai). [Those used by Melayu are mostly swamp species.] C = 5; W = 5 (Melayu)

¹⁸ Other C&I will have to deal with destruction by other stakeholders (e.g., harvesting of timber by concessionaires without regard to regulations; transmigration of large numbers of families into already occupied forest areas; conversion of natural forest areas to industrial timber estates or oil palm/rubber plantations).

(I) 3.6 People maintain spiritual links to the land

- During Colfer's brief stay in Kelayang, three resource-related religious ceremonies were observed, all of which included the active involvement of the young (one to 'feed' a crocodile spirit in the river whose hunger had been revealed in a dream to constitute a threat to a community member; one to 'feed' the soil before beginning to clear a rice field; and one to 'feed' the soil in preparation for planting).
 C = 10; W = 10 (Iban)
- Strong sense of history and location (among the Iban) and an explicitly stated sense of responsibility to provide for children, grandchildren, and subsequent descendants.
 C = 8; W = 8 (Iban)
- 3. Iban refer to the forest as seput menoa 'the breath of the land', and recognise the hydrological consequences of too much forest cutting e.g., drying up of water sources¹⁹ (see Wadley et al. 1996). C = 8; W = 8 (Iban)
- 4. Ng. Kedebu' parents express their sense of responsibility to their descendants, including expressions of concern about the sustainability of resources that are important to their lifestyle (timber, fish, rattan, bees).

C = 5; W = 5 (Melayu)

¹⁹ This hydrological knowledge has a spiritual component in that Iban contend that if they do not take care of the land both ecologically and ritually, it and they will become threatened with supernatural 'heat' (*angat*) which manifests itself in people's health and in social disruption.

TABLE 2.

Scoring of C&I on Security of Intergenerational Access to Resources* (Colfer, Wadley, and Harwell)

		Ib	an			Me	layu		
Cases/Evidence	Colfer	Wadley	Harwell ⁷	Average	Colfer	Wadley	Harwell ⁷	Average	Area Average

(C)1: Local management is effectively in controls of maintenance of, and access to, the resource

 (I) 1.1 Ownership/use rights to res. (inter/intragenerational) clear, respect claims¹ 	5.60	5.25	8.00	6.28	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	5.30
(I) 1.2 Rules and norms of resource use are monitored and enforced ¹	6.50	6.50	7.50	6.83	5.50	5.50	4.50	5.17	6.12
(I) 1.3 Means of conflict resolution function without violence ²	6.00	6.00	8.00	6.67	5.00	5.00	4.00	4.67	5.81
(I) 1.4 Access to forest resources is perceived locally to be fair ³	4.00	4.00	5.00	4.33	2.33	2.33	3.00	2.56	3.57
(I) 1.5 Local people feel secure about access to resources ³	5.25	5.25	4.00	4.83	6.00	6.00	4.00	5.33	5.05

(C)2: Forest actors have a reasonable share in the economic benefits derived from forest use

(I) 2.1 Local people get employment and training from forest companies ⁴	3.00	3.00	2.00	2.67	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.38
(I) 2.2 Damages are compensated in a fair manner ${}^{\scriptscriptstyle 5}$	3.50	3.50	3.00	3.33			3.00	3.00	3.27
(I) 2.3 Wages and other benefits conform to National and/or ILO standards ⁶	2.00	2.00	3.00	2.33			3.00	3.00	2.47
(I) 2.4 Fair mechanisms exist for sharing benefits with local communities ⁴	4.00	4.00	2.00	3.33	2.67	2.67	2.00	2.44	2.95

(C)3: People link their and their children's future with management of forest resources

 3.1 People invest in their 									
surroundings (time, effort,									
money, etc.) ⁴	8.00	8.00	8.00	8.00	8.00	8.67	4.00	6.89	7.52
(I) 3.2 People recognise need to									
balance no. people with natural									
resources ²	6.33	6.33	7.00	6.56	5.00	5.00	2.50	4.17	5.53
(I) 3.3 Children educated (formally									
and/or informally) about									
nat. res. mgmt ⁴	6.00	6.00	4.00	5.34			4.00	4.00	5.00
(I) 3.4 Destruction of natural resources									
by local communities is rare ⁴	4.00	4.00	5.00	4.33	4.00	4.00	5.00	4.33	4.33
(I) 3.6 People maintain spiritual links									
to the land ³	8.67	8.67	9.00	8.78	5.00	5.00	3.00	4.33	6.87

- * The wording may differ slightly because the field test took place in 1996; and summing and averaging a few of the indicators in the previous table will not get precise same averages, because we have removed references to cases that were in boxes in Colfer and Wadley's original text.
- ¹ Based on average scores (Colfer, Wadley) for 6 cases (see Table 1)
- ² Based on average scores (Colfer, Wadley) for 5 cases (see Table 1)
- ³ Based on average scores (Colfer, Wadley) for 4 cases (see Table 1)
- ⁴ Based on average scores (Colfer, Wadley) for 3 cases (see Table 1)
- ⁵ Based on average scores (Colfer, Wadley) for 2 cases (see Table 1)
- 6 Based on average scores (Colfer, Wadley) for 1 cases (see Table 1)
- ⁷ Harwell scored criteria and indicators, but not cases.
- The fact that the forests in and around DSWR are in comparatively good condition suggests that these scores may be high, on a global scale. The low average score for citerion 2 (2.5) suggests a possible flashpoint; and indeed feelings of unfairness about local people's share in forest benefits (that they felt should be their own) were both a recurring complaint and a rationale for examples of violent confrontation. Our comparatively high assessment of the strength of their feelings of security about access to resources (7) and their clear conceptual link between their own and their children's well-being and the forests (5.4) seems likely to contribute to sustainability by; a) confirming their 'stake' in the forest, and b) providing motivation for protecting it against potentially destructive new endeavours in the area.

(III) Quantitative Analysis Guidelines

he Quantitative Analysis Guidelines are designed to help users interested in analysing the data derived from the quantitative methods available in *The BAG* and *The Grab Bag.* In this section, we provide detailed guidance on the use of computer spreadsheets, simple descriptive data analysis, and an introduction to more complicated statistical tests. Given the different levels of computer literacy that we have encountered within our own tests of assessment methods for social C&I, we concluded that 'starting simple' was the safest route. If you are already familiar with computer spreadsheets, you may want to skip over much of the following material. On the other hand, if you are a relatively new computer user, we hope these instructions will be helpful.

A – ANALYSIS OF RESULTS FROM A STAKEHOLDER IDENTIFICATION METHOD (CATPAC)

CatPac is a software package that uses neural network analysis to identify clusters in human speech. Most communications experts consider human speech to reflect human thought. CatPac has been used, in the context of assessment of human well-being in forests, to identify relevant stakeholders in forests in Cameroon, Indonesia and Brazil. Instructions on using the method are available in *The Grab Bag*. This manual deals only with analysis of the results.

CATPAC GUIDELINES²⁰

This section describes, for the new CatPac user, how to enter the text/data, some of the computerrelated features requiring decisions, and how to make the dendograms and cognitive maps that comprise CatPac results.

a. How to enter the text/data • After you record the interview, the next step is entering the

20 There is a CatPac User Manual by Woelfel (1998). The manual contains more comprehensive information on this software. The purpose of our guidelines is only to give you the most crucial procedures in running CatPac.

text. You can enter the text using any Word Processing software, but remember to press **Enter** at the end of each line. This is to keep the text in a readable format²¹ when you open the text using the CatPac software.

- After you finish entering the text from one participant, type a '-1' as a separator between participants. Be sure to enter the data from one category (men/women, different ethnic groups, occupation, etc.) in one file.
- Save the file in text format (*.txt). CatPac can only open text files.

b. How to choose the appropriate clustering method

All the clustering techniques provided by CatPac are based on an agglomerative method. There are no exact rules to choose. To know more about the advantages and disadvantages of each method, you can go to the <u>O</u>ption menu, and then choose Clustering method. A dialogue menu will prompt you. Choose <u>H</u>elp if you want to know more about each clustering method.

c. How to make an exclude file

Since you are interested in the clustering of significant words/concepts, you will likely want to exclude from your analysis certain grammatical and other words (such as 'is', 'very', 'it'). CatPac has a default exclude file²² in English. In many cases this will not help you much, since most interviews should be in the local language. In that case, you have to set up an exclude file for that language. For initial purposes, you can translate the English file and use the translation as the new exclude file. You can do it by retrieving the English version file, translating the words line by line, and then saving

²¹ Many of our collaborators found the text that they already entered became a single long line of text when they opened the text file in the CatPac software. It occurred because they did not press Enter at the end of each line.

²² A file that contains a list of words appearing in the text of your interviews that have a primarily grammatical meaning, and do not contribute significantly to understanding of concepts related to the study.

them in another file with *.exc extension. It will perhaps be easier to imagine comparable grammatical markers in the local language and list them in the exclude file. If you find there are more irrelevant words that need to be excluded, you can add them to the list, by appending them at the bottom of your new exclude file.

d. How to make a dendogram

A dendogram is a figure representing the cognitive clusters of concepts, based on the speech (or text) you have entered and analysed. It normally looks something like a glove (see example below).

- Open the exclude file first, to activate the file. The exclude file will not be active unless you open it. Then open the text file that you want to analyse. You can use the default setting for options, including window size, slide size, clamping, clustering technique, etc.²³
- Go to the <u>F</u>ile menu and choose <u>R</u>un, and then choose <u>M</u>ake dendogram. CatPac will give you the results in a few seconds. You can print the dendogram directly by choosing Print under the <u>F</u>ile menu. You also can save the dendogram as *.den file by choosing Save <u>A</u>s under the <u>F</u>ile menu (see Dendogram sample below).

23 The use of each option and how to choose the right option for your text can be found in the CatPac User Manual.

DENDOGRAM SAMPLE

TOTAL	WORDS	96	THRESHOLD	0.000
TOTAL	UNIQUE WORDS	25	RESTORING FORCE	0.100
TOTAL	EPISODES	101	CYCLES	1
TOTAL	LINES	27	FUNCTION	Hyperbolic
			CLAMPING	Yes

DESCENDING FR	EQUEI	NCY L	LST		ALPHABETICALLY	SOF	RTED I	LIST	
			CASE	CASE				CASE	CASE
WORD	FREQ	PCNT	FREQ	PCNT	WORD F	REQ	PCNT	FREQ	PCNT
^ · · · · · · · · ·									
FORET (forest)	25	26.0	94	93.1	ANCETRES	1	1.0	7	6.9
SAUVAGES (wild)	8	8.3	48	47.5	ANIMAUX	3	3.1	21	20.8
DONNE (give)	5	5.2	34	33.7	AUCUN	1	1.0	7	6.9
MANGUES (mango)	4	4.2	27	26.7	CHOSE	2	2.1	10	9.9
MIEL (honey)	4	4.2	31	30.7	DONNE	5	5.2	34	33.7
NKONO	4	4.2	28	27.7	FORÊT	25	26.0	94	93.1
NOYAUX (pits)	4	4.2	28	27.7	IGNAMES	3	3.1	28	27.7
TROUVE (find)	4	4.2	36	35.6	MANGER	3	3.1	21	20.8
ANIMAUX (animals)	3	3.1	21	20.8	MANGUES	4	4.2	27	26.7
IGNAMES (yams)	3	3.1	28	27.7	MANGUIERS	2	2.1	10	9.9
MANGER (to eat)	3	3.1	21	20.8	MIEL	4	4.2	31	30.7
MOABI [a tree]	3	3.1	28	27.7	MOABI	3	3.1	28	27.7
MOI (me)	3	3.1	21	20.8	MOI	3	3.1	21	20.8
PARTIE (part)	3	3.1	9	8.9	NKONO	4	4.2	28	27.7
CHOSE (thing)	2	2.1	10	9.9	NOYAUX	4	4.2	28	27.7
MANGUIERS	2	2.1	10	9.9	NÉS	2	2.1	13	12.9
NÉS (born)	2	2.1	13	12.9	PARTIE	3	3.1	9	8.9
PRODUITS (product	s) 2	2.1	14	13.9	PRODUITS	2	2.1	14	13.9
SE [reflexive, se	lf]2	2.1	14	13.9	SAUVAGES	8	8.3	48	47.5
VIANDE (meat)	2	2.1	14	13.9	SE	2	2.1	14	13.9
VIE (life)	2	2.1	14	13.9	TROUVE	4	4.2	36	35.6
VIS (lives)	2	2.1	14	13.9	VIANDE	2	2.1	14	13.9
VIVRE (to live)	2	2.1	14	13.9	VIE	2	2.1	14	13.9
ANCÊTRES (ancesto	rs)1	1.0	7	6.9	VIS	2	2.1	14	13.9
AUCUN (none)	1	1.0	7	6.9	VIVRE	2	2.1	14	13.9
WARDS METHOD									

```
ANVAVMVPVANIMSPMTSMNCDFMM
NÉIUIAIRINKGAAAAREOOHOOIO
CSVCENAOSIONNURNO.AYONREI
Ê.RU.GND.MNAGVTGU.BASNÊL.
T.EN.UDU.AOMUAIEV.IUEET..
R . . . . I E I . U . E E G E R E . . X . . . .
E . . . . E . T . X . S S E . . . . . . . . .
. . S
   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
                    ~~~~
   . . . . . . . . . . ^^^
             ~ ~ ~
                ...
 . . . . . . . . ^^^ . ^^^ . ^^^
 *** . . . . . . *** . *** . *** . *** ****
  ~ ~ ~
    ... ...
 ···· ··· ··· ··· ··· . ··· . ···· · ····
 ... ... ... ... .... ... .... ...
..... ... ... ... .... .... ....
..... ... ... ... .... ..... .....
..... ... ... ... ..... ......
..... ... ... ... ..... .......
..... ... ...... ....... .......
```

Interpretation: These data provide you with a visual expression of the clustering of words in the recorded text. The importance of these clusters derives from the perspective that people's speech reflects their thoughts, to a certain degree. So if, for instance, the word 'forest' and 'good' appear together frequently (forming a cluster), we might conclude that these people consider forests to be good, which one might interpret to favour sustainability. In the above example, the French words for thing (chose), give (donne), forest (forêt), honey (miel), and me (moi) represent the most important cluster.

This suggests an important role of honey in local forest management. Pits (*noyaux*) and *moabi* (a Cameroonian tree) are in another important cluster close to the previous one, suggesting that these may be important forest products that people use. The clustering of words in people's speech about a topic such as forests (or any other researchable issue) gives important hints about relations between forest and other elements in the local environment, human and otherwise.

e. How to make a cognitive map²⁴ from CatPac

- CatPac also has the ability to produce a cognitive map. You can get the cognitive map by saving the dendogram file as a coordinate file (*.crd). You will be prompted by a dialogue box. Just click **OK** and type the name of your coordinate file.
- You can open the Thought View software²⁵, then open the coordinate file. You can do some operations on the picture (i.e., rotate the picture; shrink or enlarge; change the cube, grid, or font colour, etc.).
- After you are satisfied with the appearance of the picture, you can copy and paste it to another software by choosing <u>Copy</u> (Ctrl+Ins) under the <u>E</u>dit menu. You can see a sample of a cognitive map below.

²⁴ The cognitive map can be used to help interpret the clusters. Most of the time, the cognitive map gives the same configuration as the dendogram, but sometimes it may provide new insights. If the results given by the two methods are conflicting, it is strongly recommended to use the results from the dendogram as they are more accurate.

²⁵ Thought View is a complementary program for CatPac. You can install Thought View by clicking Setup.exe file in CatPac CD attached and following the instruction.



FIGURE 2. Cognitive map for Baka females (Dja Reserve, Cameroon)

The cognitive map is sometimes useful to get a rough visual representation of people's thinking. Again, you can see the close connections among the words honey (*miel*), me (*moi*), thing (*chose*), and give (*donne*). Forest (*forêt*) appears further away than one might guess from the cluster analysis. Toward the bottom of the plot the two unreadable terms are pits (*noyaux*) and *moabi* (a valuable Cameroonian tree).

B – ANALYSIS OF METHODS ON SECURITY OF INTERGENERATIONAL ACCESS TO RESOURCES

This section contains analytical guidance for three social science assessment methods: the Histo-Ecological Matrix, Access to Resources by Generation, and Benefit Sharing among Stakeholders. These methods have been found useful in assessing security of intergenerational access to resources in certain forests among certain groups of people.

1. HISTO-ECOLOGICAL MATRIX GUIDELINES

a. Entering the data

You can follow the format as shown in Figure 3. The resources identified in the field are listed across the top (palms, beef, *egusi*), while the years are listed vertically. You do not have to enter the data in consecutive years. We would, however, suggest you do so for ease of reading.

Micri Sei Fil	osoft Excel - Book e Edit View Insert	1 Format Tools Dat	a Window Help				l×I I×I
		6 B B 🖉 က •	∝- 6 6 Σ	£≈ ĝi ≩i 🛍 🔮	🚯 150% • 😭		<u></u>
Arial	• 10	• B <i>I</i> <u>U</u> 🗮	≣≣⊡ \$%	,‰ 沈 谭 谭	- <u>A</u> - <u>A</u> -		
	D10 -	-					_
	A	В	С	D	E	F	÷
1	Year	Palms	Beef	Egusi			
2	1962	2	25	1			
3	1967	4	22	2			
4	1972	8	20	3			
5	1977	13	15	4			
6	1982	15	8	14			
7	1987	17	5	20			
8	1992	19	3	25			
9	1997	22	2	30			
10							
11							
12							
H 4 > >	Sheet1 / Sheet2 /	Sheet3 /		1.		i l ji	Ľ
Read)	1					NUM	

FIGURE 3. Spreadsheet format for histo-ecological data

b. Checking linear trend over time

You can determine whether the data show a trend over time by using the regression facility in Excel. Add the regression command into Excel by installing its Add-Ins program.

Follow these steps to install the program:

X Micro	osoft Excel - Book e ⊑dit ⊻iew [nsert	1 Format <u>T</u> o	ols <u>D</u> ata <u>W</u> indow	Help				- 문 -	< <
0	:∎∂Q.♥≯	¦ • • • ♥	Spelling F	=7	f,	24 X4 🛍 🔮	🚯 150% 🔹 🕄		
Arial	▼ 10 C7 ▼	• B 2 =	AutoCorrect Look Up Reference		Ξ,	18:39 谭谭	<u>• • • 4</u> •		
	A		Share Workbook			D	Е	F	
1	Year	Paln	Irack Changes Marga Workbooks.		E	Egusi			
2	1962	_	Protection	•	5	1			
3	1967		Goal Seek		2	2			
4	1972		Auditing	•)	3			
5	1977		Sol <u>v</u> er		5	4			
6	1982		Macro	•	3	14			
7	1987		Customize		5	20			
8	1992		Options		3	25			
9	1997	_	ZZ	- 4	2	30			
10									
11									
12									
Ready	Sheet1 / Sheet2 /	Sheet3 /	i						Ī

• Go to the <u>T</u>ools menu and choose Add-<u>I</u>ns (Figure 4),

FIGURE 4. Choosing Add-Ins submenu (histo-ecological data)

Click on Analysis ToolPak and Analysis ToolPak-VBA (Figure 5). Do not click the options if they are already marked, which means the Add-Ins program has already been installed on your computer.



FIGURE 5. Choosing specified Add-Ins module (histo-ecological data)

- After you install this program, you will see there is a new sub menu under the Tools menu, that is: <u>D</u>ata Analysis, at the bottom of the <u>T</u>ools menu. You can do a regression analysis now by choosing the <u>D</u>ata Analysis sub menu.
- A dialogue menu as shown in Figure 6 will prompt you. Choose the regression option from the list of analysis tools and then click **OK** (Figure 6).

Micr	osoft Excel - Book	<1				<u>_8</u> ×
Ei Ei	le <u>E</u> dit ⊻iew Insert	Format Tools Dat	a <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp			_ & ×
De	; 🖬 🖨 🖪 🌾 🕽	K B B 🖉 🗠 -	∝	18 21 XI 🛍 🖤	🚯 150% 🔹 🕄	
Arial		• B <i>I</i> U =	s = 🖬 \$ %	,*** *** 使使	<u>• • • 4</u> •	
	D9 _	= 30	-	_	_	
	A	В	С	D	E	F 📑
1	Year	Palms	Beef	Egusi		
2	1962	2	25	1		
3	1967	4	22	2		
4	1972	Data Analysis			? ×	
5	1977	Descriptive Statistic	8	I	OK	
6	1982	Exponential Smooth F-Test Two-Sample	ning e for Variances		Cancel	
7	1987	Fourier Analysis Histogram			Help	
8	1992	Moving Average Random Number G	eneration			
9	1997	Rank and Percentils Regression	9			
10		Isamping		<u> </u>		
11						
12						
	N Sheet1 / Sheet2 /	Sheet3 /	1			ألف ا
Read	Y			Su	m=55	NUM

FIGURE 6. Starting regression analysis for histo-ecological data

• The next step is defining the range (the 'cells' in the spreadsheet that contain the data) for dependent variable (Y) and independent variable (X). Input the cell's range in a dialogue menu as shown in Figure 7. For instance, if you want to check the trends on palms, in the example above you can treat the palms variable as the dependent variable and year (time) as the independent variable. Do not forget to click on Residual plot, Line Fit Plot, and Normal Probability Plot, as you will need them later to check the model's adequacy. Then, click **OK**.

🔀 Micr	osoft Excel - Book	d			_ @ ×
Eil Eil	le <u>E</u> dit ⊻iew Insert	Format Tools Dat	a <u>W</u> i	indow Help	_ & ×
De	; 🖬 🖨 🖪 🖓 🕽	6 B 🖻 🝼 🕬 -	Cit v	· 🍓 🍄 🗵 🎋 🛃 🛍 🔮 🦓 150% 👻 🕄	
Arial	▼ 10	• B I <u>U</u> 🚍		國\$%,‰፨使使Ⅲ•逾•▲•	
	D9 -	= 30			
	A	В		Regression	?×
1	Year	Palms	B	Input	OK
2	1962	2		Input Y Range: B2:89	Cancel
3	1967	4		Input <u>X</u> Range: A2:A9 <u>14</u>	Halp
4	1972	8		Labels Constant is Zero	
5	1977	13		1 Conjuence Leven 193 76	
6	1982	15		Output options	
7	1987	17		New Worksheet Ply:	
8	1992	19		C New Workbook	
9	1997	22		Residuals	
10				Standardized Residuals	
11				Normal Probability	
12				V Normal Probability Plots	
4 +)	N Sheet1 / Sheet2 /	Sheet3 /	<u> </u>		
Read	y			Sum=55	NUM

FIGURE 7. Defining variable's cell range (histo-ecological data)

• The output of the analysis that you will get is shown in Figure 8. You can check the model's significance by looking at the p-value (shown by the arrow). If the p-value falls below 5% (0.05), it can be concluded that there is a linear²⁶ trend over time. The line's slope will tell you important information about people's perceptions of changes in the resources over time. If the slope has a negative sign, it means the amount of that resource is perceived to be decreasing. If the slope of the sign is positive, the reverse is true. The resource is perceived to be increasing. You also can check how well the equation fits the data by looking at the R-square. The higher the R-square, the better the fit²⁷.

²⁶ If you find the p-value is not significant, it doesn't mean the data do not have a pattern or trend over time. They may have a non-linear trend (i.e., quadratic, cubic, etc.). Excel does not provide analyses tools for non-linear trends. You can use more sophisticated statistical software, such as SPSS, SAS or Minitab, in such cases.

²⁷ The R-sq is very sensitive to outliers and influential observation. There are several statistic instead of R-sq which has been introduced for assessing goodness of fit, including PRESS statistic (Draper & Smith 1982). However for our simple model, R-sq is adequate.



FIGURE 8. Output of regression analysis for histo-ecological data

c. Checking model validity

Regression analysis, which has been used widely to model the relationship between two variables,

has several assumptions that need to be satisfied to get a valid (reliable) model. Those assumptions are normality of residuals, homogeneity of residual variances, uncorrelated residuals, etc. More detailed discussion on those assumptions can be found in (Draper & Smith 1981), although appendix A in this manual might give you insight how to investigate those assumptions using explanatory and graphic approach. However, we strongly suggest you use statistical software, such as Minitab, SAS, and SPSS, to perform more a detailed inspection. Because our data are similar to time series data, it is more likely there will be correlated residuals that violate the assumptions. In this case, autoregressive regression (Makridakis *et al.* 1983).

2. ACCESS TO RESOURCES BY GENERATION GUIDELINES

This section first provides information on how to set up a spreadsheet and enter the data for the

pebble distribution method on access to resources by generation (in *The* BAG). Next, we explain how to perform simple statistical analyses on the data, including how to check data distribution and generate simple descriptive tables. For those of you who are satisfied with simple analyses, you can stop there. The final part is intended for those who want to conduct more advanced analyses, such as testing the significance of differences of opinion among different groups (based on ethnicity, age, gender, etc.).

a. Entering the data

- Enter the data using spreadsheet software, such as Excel or Lotus, if possible.
- Enter the demographic data, such as user group, gender, age, educational level, etc., in the left-hand columns (as shown in Figure 9, columns A–D). Insofar as possible, enter the demographic data using numeric codes. If you have categorical data, such as gender, educational level, etc., you need to convert them into numeric codes (e.g., female = 0, male = 1, etc.). It is very important to keep a coding sheet, so you will know the meaning of each code. You will need it when you undertake the analysis. We suggest you record the coding information within the spreadsheet.

🛚 Microsoft Excel - Pebble2.xls										
22	Eile Edit ⊻iew Ins	ert Forma	at <u>T</u> oo	ls <u>D</u> ata	Window <u>H</u> elp					_ 8 ×
	ጅ፼፼₽₽	X 🗈 (2. 1	K7 v	∼ 8 67 Σ)		. 🛍 🔮 🧞 100	ו 😰		
Ga	ramond 🔹 1	0 - B	ΙU	83	≣≣⊠\$%	, +.0 .0	3 健健 田・4	- <u>A</u> -		
	E1 •	-	Gr	ands-p	parents					
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	H	I	I -
1	Village	Ethnie	Age	Sexce	Grands-parents	Me	Grand-child			
2	1	3	21	0	60	29	11			
3	1	3	24	0	49	35	16			
4	1	3	18	0	51	29	20			
5	1	3	20	0	54	32	14			
6	1	3	55	0	71	20	9			
7	1	3	49	0	81	12	7			
8	1	3	66	0	62	21	17			
9	1	3	58	1	59	21	20			
10	1	3	64	1	60	36	4			
11	1	3	42	1	59	28	13			
12	1	3	35	1	40	34	26			
13	1	3	29	1	81	10	9			
14	1	3	33	1	76	21	3			
15	1	3	55	1	47	39	14			
16	2	2	47	0	56	24	20			
17	2	2	45	0	62	20	18			
18	2	2	50	0	48	30	22			
10	7 Données brutes	Feuil2	Feuil3 /	Feuil4 /	Feuil5 / Feuil6 / Feuil	26 7 / Feuil8	20			i di
Se	lect destination a	nd press	S ENT	ER or				NUM		

FIGURE 9. Spreadsheet format for inter-generation data

- You can use the next column to enter the amount of pebbles for each generation (i.e., grandparent, me, grandchild²⁸) allocated by the respondent. You only need one row for each respondent.
- After you finish entering the data for all respondents, do not forget to save the file in Lotus 123 format (*.wk1).

b. Conducting simple data analyses using SPSS²⁹

We use SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) to analyse the data.

• Opening the data — You can open the Lotus 123 file in an SPSS spreadsheet. Use the read variable name³⁰ option.

²⁸ Usually we use three categories, grandparents, me, and grandchildren, but the East Kalimantan team (1997) added two more categories: parents and children.

²⁹ We have also made guidelines for those of you who want to undertake simple analyses using Excel (see Part c of this section).

³⁰ From the SPSS menu bar, you can choose <u>File → Open</u>, then change the file type to Lotus (*.wk1) and choose the file you want to open. The SPSS processor automatically will ask you whether you want to read the variable name or not. Just click on the 'read the variable names' option.

• Labelling the data — Use the coding sheet (the one that you made when you coded the demographic data into a numeric code to label the data). For labelling the data, place the cursor at the column where the demographic data are. Below is an example of labelling gender data.

From menus, choose: <u>D</u>ata <u>D</u>efine variable (Figure 10)

Click **Label** button (shown by the arrow). You will be asked to enter your label (Figure 11).

⊞Ac	cess - SPSS Data	Editor		_ 8 ×
File	<u>E</u> dit ⊻iew <u>D</u> ata	<u>Transform</u> <u>Statistics</u> <u>Graphs</u> <u>Utilities</u> <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp		
S I	1 8 9 10 15			
1:ge	nder	Define Variable 🛛 🕅		*
	village	⊻ariable Name: gender	me	grandc
1	Sembé	Variable Description	30.0	
2	Sembé	Type: Numerica.u Variable Label:	30.0	
3	Sembé	Missing Values: None	15.0	
4	Sembé	Alignment: Right	15.0	
5	Sembé	Change Settings	5.0	
6	Sembé	Type Missing Values	38.0	
7	Sembé	Labels Column Format	34.0	
8	Sembé		39.0	
9	Sembé	Measurement	34.0	
10	Sembé	C Scale C Ordinal C Nominal	30.0	
11	Sembé		30.0	
12	Sembé	OK Cancel Help	16.0	
13	Sembé	2 23 1 73.0	27.0	
14	Somhó	2 10 0 84 0	6.0	•
		SPSS Processor is ready		

FIGURE 10. Label button (inter-generation data)

⊞Ac	cess	- SPSS	6 Data	Editor									_ 8 ×
File	<u>E</u> dit	View	Data	Transform	Statistics	<u>G</u> raphs	<u>U</u> tilities	Window	Help				
<u>s</u>	18	<u> </u>	<u>م</u>	≟ [⊅ 44	酒面日	BAL	ାଡା			_	νŀ		
1:ge	nder	-		Denne van				_	_		-		-
		v	illage	Variable	Name: 9	ender						me	grandc
1			_	Variable	Description						1	30.0	
- 2				Define Labe	ls: gende	ĩ					×	20.0	
2			-	⊻ariable Lat	oel:				_	Continue	1	45.0	
3	_		-	-Value Lab	els					Cancel	1	15.0	
4			_	Val <u>u</u> e:	1							15.0	
5				Valu <u>e</u> Labe	I: Male				_		ן נ	5.0	
6			- 1	Add	0 = "Fen	nale"			-			38.0	
7				Change	i							34.0	
8				Bemove	il							39.0	
9				II								34.0	
10				, 35	me	<u>o</u> lui	nai	• <u>N</u> OF	nna			30.0	
11							OK	1 Car	1	Hala		30.0	
12							UK			Theip	1	16.0	
13				4		2 23		1		73.0	Γ	27.0	
14						2 10				84.0		6.0	•
				[SPSS Proc	essor is re	ady	J					

FIGURE 11. Defining labels for gender on inter-generation data

Enter the demographic label (e.g., Female, in the example above) and when you finish, click **Continue**.

Follow the same procedure for the other demographic data.

• Checking data distribution — Commonly, we calculate a *mean/average* to measure the distribution of pebbles according to the respondents. However, using the mean has some disadvantages when the data are not spread symmetrically or when there are one or more outliers. If this occurs, we can use *median value* instead. To check whether the data are spread symmetrically or not we can use a *boxplot*. We check the data for each generation separately, since each generation was considered as a separate variable. If the majority of the generations were distributed asymmetrically, we would use the median instead. On the other hand, if the majority of generations was distributed symmetrically, we could use the *mean/average*.

You can obtain a boxplot by following these instructions:

From menu, choose <u>G</u>raphs Bo<u>x</u>plot

Choose simple and summaries for separate variables (Figure 12).

Click on **Define** button.

Enter all the generations as variables (Figure 13) and then click OK.

You will get the Boxplot as shown in Figure 14. The black line inside the box shows the median position. The upper and lower edges of the box show the position of the 3rd and 1st quartiles, respectively. The data are distributed symmetrically if and only if the median is located in the middle of the box, at approximately the same distance from both the 3rd and 1st quartiles.

⊞Acc	ess - SPSS Data Editor							_ 8 ×				
File	<u>E</u> dit ⊻iew <u>D</u> ata <u>T</u> ransfo	m <u>S</u> tatistics (<u>G</u> raphs	<u>U</u> tilities <u>W</u> inc	low <u>H</u> elp							
		4 11 11 11 11	北国	<u>s</u>								
1:gei	1:gender											
	village	ethnic	age	gender	grand	dprn	me	grandc				
1	4	2	45	1		55.0	30.0					
2	4	Boxplot	-		×	60.0	30.0					
3	4	ģθęθ Si	mple		Define	75.0	15.0					
4	4				Cancel	80.0	15.0					
5	4	θή θi Ci	ustered		Help	90.0	5.0					
6	4	- Data in C	hart Are			50.0	38.0					
7	4	C Summ	naries fo	r aroups of case:	3	56.0	34.0					
8	4	 Summ 	naries of	separate variab	les	51.0	39.0					
9	4					66.0	34.0					
10	4	2	55	0		60.0	30.0					
11	4	2	61	0		54.0	30.0					
12	4	2	21	1		62.0	16.0					
13	4	2	23	1		73.0	27.0					
14	4	1	10	<u>م</u>		84.0	6.0	•				
SPSS Processor is ready												

FIGURE 12. Choosing type of boxplot for inter-generation data

⊞Acc	ess - SPSS Data Editor							_ 8 ×					
Eile	Edit ⊻iew Data Transfo	rm <u>S</u> tatistics <u>I</u>	Graphs	Utilities Wind	low <u>H</u> elp								
1:gei	1:gender 0												
	village	ethnic	age	gender	grandprn		me	grandc					
1	🕃 Define Simp	ile Boxplot: Su	nmarie	s of Separate	Variables		×						
2	(€) village	_		Boxes Repres	ent		ок						
3	(€) ethnic (€) age			Grand-pare me [me]	nts [grandpm]	E	aste						
4	 gender total 			Grand-Child	i [grandcld]	E	teset						
5	¢ vill					C	ancel						
6						ŀ	Help						
7					_	_	þ						
8				Label Cases b	y		P						
9		_			_	Qpti	ons						
10		2	- 55	•		00.0							
11	4	2	61	0		54.0	30.0						
12	4	2	21	1		62.0	16.0						
13	4	2	23	1		73.0	27.0						
11	۸ ا	1 2	10	<u>م</u>		<u>84 O</u>	6.0						
	SPSS Processor is ready												

FIGURE 13. Choosing variables of inter-generation data (for checking data distribution)



FIGURE 14. Boxplot for inter-generation data

If the data distribution is highly skewed or there are some outliers (usually indicated by asterisks or circles), we suggest you use the median instead. In these boxplots above, we considered me and grandchild as having an asymmetric distribution since the median position is skewed and there are also some outliers. Hence, we use a median for analysing inter-generation data.

• Generating the table that describes the distribution of access to resources across generation, according to all respondents

From the menu, choose:

<u>S</u>tatistics Custom <u>T</u>ables <u>B</u>asic Tables Put all generations in *summaries* item. You can do this by clicking the variable name and then clicking on the arrow in front of the *summaries* box (Figure 15).

Access - SPSS Data Editor							_ 8 ×
File Edit View Data Transfor	m <u>S</u> tatistics <u>(</u>	<u>G</u> raphs	Utilities	<u>W</u> indov	v <u>H</u> elp		
	<u>#111111111</u>	19 I V	<u>so</u>				
1 🖀 Basic Tables					×		
() village	Summ	naries:			OK	me	grandc
ethnic	e an	and-par e [me]	ents (grand	- 01	Paste	30.0	
ege gender	Subarouns	and-Chi	ld [grandcl	d	Reset	30.0	
we total we vill	<u>D</u> own				Cancel	15.0	
					Help	15.0	
	Acros	s:		-11		5.0	
					Statistics	38.0	
				- 1		34.0	
	Separ	rate Ta <u>b</u>	oles:	_	Totels	39.0	
					Format	34.0	
	C All combinati	ens (ne	sted)			30.0	
	о сасцверала				11025	30.0	
12 4	2	21		1	62.0	16.0	
13 4	2	23		1	73.0	27.0	
	2	10			84.0	0.9	•
Processor area	SPSS Proces	sor is re	ady		J		

FIGURE 15. Selecting inter-generation variables

Click on the <u>S</u>tatistics button and add <u>M</u>ean or <u>M</u>edian (depend on which measure you decide to use) as the cell's statistics.

By clicking the **OK** button, you will get the results (Figure 16).


FIGURE 16. SPSS table describing distribution of access to resources across generation, according to all respondents

- c. Conducting simple analyses using Excel
 - Generating the table that describes the pebble distribution, according to all respondents

From the <u>D</u>ata Menu, choose <u>P</u>ivotTable Report. You will see the dialogue box as shown in Figure 17.



FIGURE 17. Pivot table wizard (inter-generation data)

Click on Next> button twice, and you will see a dialogue box as shown in Figure 18.



FIGURE 18. Constructing a pivot table for simple analysis of inter-generation data (Step 1)

 \mathbb{K} Drag all the generations into the data space (Figure 19).

The sum is the default statistic. You can change the statistic by clicking on the button and choosing the statistic that you want to calculate³¹ (Figure 20).



FIGURE 19. Constructing a pivot table for simple analysis on inter-generation data (Step 2)

³¹ The statistics provided by Excel do not include Median. If you want to use median, you must use another software, such as SPSS.



FIGURE 20. Changing the default statistic on inter-generation data

After you have decided on the appropriate statistic, you can click the <u>F</u>inish button and you will get the table as shown in Figure 21. If you prefer a smaller number of digits, you can set the decimal place³².

³² To set the decimal place, go to the <u>Format menu</u>, choose cells and under category choose numbers. Then you can set the decimal place by increasing or decreasing the default decimal place (default=2).

26 h	licrosoft Excel - Pebble2.xls	\$							_ 8 ×
×5	Èile Edit ⊻iew Insert Forma	it <u>T</u> ools <u>D</u> ata !	<u>M</u> indow <u>H</u> el	р					B×
	6 🖬 6 🖪 🖤 X 🗞 I	ဦေ∛ပ်ာ∙ေ	× 🐁 📽	Σ f× ĝ↓	XI 🛍 🦉	100%	· 2		
Ga	ramond 🛛 🕶 🖪	<i>Ι</i> <u>υ</u> ≣ Ξ	≣ ፼ \$	%, %	.% († (†	. ð.	<u>A</u> -		
	A1 - =	Data							
	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	H	Ι.
1	Data	Total							
2	Average of Grands-parents	61.22222222							
3	Average of Me	24.52777778							
4	Average of Grand-child	14.25							
5									
6									
7									
8									- 1
9									- 1
10									- 1
11									
12									- 1
13									- 1
14									- 1
15									- 1
16									
1/									
18									
14	▶ N Sheet2 / Données brutes /	Feuil2 / Feuil3 /	Feuil4 / Feuil5	/ Feuil6 / Fe	suili 🕴			<u> </u>	_ IĒ
Re	ady							NU	M

FIGURE 21. Excel table describing distribution of access to resources across generation, according to all respondents

d. Conducting advanced data analysis using SPSS

• Generating the table that describes the distribution of access to resources across generation, according to a particular subgroup

Sometimes, it is interesting to compare different subgroups within each demographic element (ethnicity, gender, educational level, etc.) according to their opinions on the distribution of pebbles among stakeholders. To compare those subgroups' opinions, we need to know the distribution of pebbles among generations, according to each subgroup. You can follow our instructions below to get those figures. Imagine that we have a set of respondents from three ethnic groups, *Baka*, *Kako*, and *Nzime*³³.

³³ These ethnic groups inhabit the Dja Reserve area, Cameroon (Tchikangwa *et al.*1998).

From the menu, choose:

<u>S</u>tatistics Custom <u>T</u>ables <u>B</u>asic Tables

Put all generations in *summaries* item. You can do this by clicking the variable name and then clicking on the arrow in front of the *summaries* box (Figure 22).

⊞Acc Eila	ess - SPSS Da Edit - View - Da	ata Editor	Statistics	Cranha	Litilities	Mindow	Hole		-	8 ×
		aa <u>n</u> ansionn ⊠l ⊱∣b∣aa l	statistics st∏ttt=1 t	andene I⊞latal⊞	യതി	<u>**</u> indow	Tierb			
1.00	Desis Tables							M	1	-
1.34	Basic Lables		Sur	nmaries:					child	t
	èvillage èethnic		- Ē	Grands-pa	rents (par	en -		UK	15.0	-
	ege 🖇	L	*	me Petits-enfa	nts [child]			Paste	15.0	_
	øgender ∳total	Su	bgroups					<u>R</u> eset	10.0	
4	∳villa			wn:				Cancel	10.0	_
							Î	Help	5.0	
			Acr	OSS:			-		5.0	
							Stat	istics	12.0	
						_		rout	10.0	
		_	Sep	parate Ta <u>b</u>	les:	_ 11	Fai	you	10.0	
_							0	tais	.0	
		6	All combin	nations (nes	sted)	- 11	Eor	mat	10.0	
		0					Tr	tl <u>e</u> s	16.0	
12	A	2	21		1		62.0	16.0	22.0	-
12	4	2	21		4		72.0	07.0	22.0	
13	4	2	23		-		13.0	27.0	0.	_
	• 1	1 2	1 101				×4.01	- 6.01	10.01	Ŀ
		3	SPSS Proc	essor is rea	ady					

FIGURE 22. Selecting inter-generation variables (for summarising)

Put the column containing data of subgroups we want to compare into *subgroups-down* item (Figure 23). In our case, information about ethnicity is in the *Ethnic* column. Then, click OK.

Access - SPSS Da						-	8 ×					
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit ⊻iew <u>D</u> a	The Edit View Data Iransform Statistics Graphs Utilities Window Help 36 표정 역 이 지 는 만 44 任 문 모 등 장 ④											
	5 E P M	重直										
1: Basic Tables	-				×	1	*					
(a) village		Su	mmaries:		ОК	child	t					
(r) age)	Grands-parents [pa me	rent_	Paste	15.0						
total	- 90	barouns -	Petits-enfants [child]	_	Beset	10.0						
(€) vila	- light wills											
	Cancel											
	Across:											
				-	Lavout	10.0						
		Se	parate Ta <u>b</u> les:		Totolo	10.0						
				-		.0						
	e	All pamiair	nations (nested)	-	Eonmai	10.0						
					l itl <u>e</u> s	16.0						
12 4	2	21	1	6:	2.0 16.0	22.0						
13 4	2	23	1	7:	3.0 27.0	.0						
1	1	10	0	8	10 60	10.0						
	S	PSS Proc	æssor is ready									

FIGURE 23. Selecting demographic variable on inter-generation data

Now, we can compare the differences of pebble distribution for each generation according to the three ethnic groups (Figure 24).



FIGURE 24. SPSS table describing comparison of distribution of access to resources across generation based on ethnicity

If you have more than three categories in your demographic data (e.g., four or more ethnic groups), you can continue this same step to get the *mean/median* value of pebble distribution among stakeholders for the other categories.

• Testing agreement/disagreement among different groups on the distribution of access to resources across generation— You can check whether there is agreement or disagreement among the different groups³⁴ about the amount of pebbles attributed to each generation.

From the menu, choose:

<u>Statistics</u> <u>N</u>onparametric test <u>2</u> independent samples or <u>K</u> independent samples³⁵ (See Figure 25)

³⁴ Groups here could be gender, educational level, ethnicity, etc.

³⁵ If you would like to test data with only two categories or two groups, you should choose two independent samples and then use the Mann-Whitney test. If you are dealing with data in more than two categories, you should choose K-independent samples, and then use Kruskall-Wallis test.

iii Acc	ess - SPSS	Data	Editor								₽ ×	
File	<u>E</u> dit ⊻iew	<u>D</u> ata	Transform	Statistics	<u>G</u> raphs	Utilities	Window	Help				
	1 🗃 🖳 🖂	- -	12 B? #4	Summ	arize	•						
9:gei	nder		0	Custor Comp	n <u>T</u> ables are <u>M</u> eans						-	
	village		ethnic	<u>G</u> ener	al Linear Mo	odel 🕴	grandpr	n	me	grandcld	t	
1		4	2	<u>B</u> egre	ssion			55.0	30.0	15.0		
2		4	2	Loglin	ear	•		60.0	30.0	10.0		
3		4	- 2	Classi Data F	t⊻ Reduction			75.0	15.0	10.0	-	
4		- 	2	Scale		•			45.0	- 50	-	
-		4	2	Nonpe	arametric Te	ests ▶	Chi-Sque	ıre		5.0	_	
5		4	2	Survival			Binomial			5.0		
6		4	2	Multipl	a e Respons	e 🗼	1-Sample	∋ K-S		12.0		
7		4	2	56 0			2 Indepe	ndent Sa	mples	10.0		
8		4	2	54 0			<u>K</u> Indepe 2 Relater	ndent Sa d Sample	mples	10.0		
9		4	2	48		0	K Relate	d <u>S</u> ample	98	.0		
10		4	2	55		0		60.0	30.0	10.0		
11		4	2	61		0	54.0 30.0		54.0 30.0		16.0	
12		4	2	2 21 1				62.0	16.0	22.0		
13		4	2	23 1 73.0 27.0			.0					
14		Λ	2	10		0		84.0	6.0	10.0		
Kindep	oendent Sam	ples	5	SPSS Proc	essoris rea	ady					<u> </u>	

FIGURE 25. Selecting statistical test for testing agreement on intergeneration data

Put the test variables³⁶ into *test variable list box* and grouping variable into *grouping variable box* (Figure 26). You then should define a minimum and maximum value of the grouping variable (you can check the meaning of each code on your coding sheet). See Figure 27 for details.

36 Test variables should be the column containing the pebbles data for each generation. The grouping variable is the column containing information of different groups that we want to compare.

⊞Acc	ess - SPSS D	ata Editor					_	8 ×						
File	<u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>D</u>	ata <u>T</u> ransform	<u>S</u> tatisti	cs <u>G</u> raphs <u>U</u> f	ilities <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp									
		<u> </u>	汇前	<u> = 4 F </u> >	0									
1:pa	rents	55						*						
	village	ethnic	age	gender	parents	me	child	t						
1	⊎8 Te	x 15.0												
2	2 Avillage Test Variable List OK 10.0													
3	3 Sender Grands-parents [parents]													
4	4 total willages Will Petits-enfants [child] Beset 5.0													
5	5 Srouping Variable: Cancel													
6	Grouping Variable: Cancel													
7			_	Defin	ie Range		10.0							
8	-Te	st Type					10.0							
9	ম	<u>K</u> ruskal-Wallis H		□ <u>M</u> edian			.0							
10						Options	10.0							
11	-4	2	01	0		30.0	16.0							
12 4 2 21 1 62.0 16.0														
13 4 2 23 1 73.0 27.0														
11	<u>л</u>	2	10	0	81.0	6.0	10.0	•						
		3	SPSS Pi	ocessor is ready										

FIGURE 26. Selecting test variables and grouping variable (inter-generation data)

₿Aco	ess - SPSS Dε	ata Editor							-	8×					
File	Edit ⊻iew Da	ata <u>T</u> ransform	Statistic	∷s <u>G</u> raphs <u>U</u> t	ilities <u>W</u> indov (v <u>H</u> elp									
		<u> </u>	<u>*1</u> ff		0					1.01					
1:gr	andprn	55								Î					
	village	ethnic	age	gender	grand	orn	me	g	randcld	t					
1	∷∄ Te	sts for Several	Indepe	ndent Samples				×	15.0						
2	2 Avillage Test Variable List OK 10.0														
3	3 © oge © Grand-parents [grandpm] Paste 10.0														
4	4 ♦ total Several Independent Samples: Define Range X Beset 5.0														
5	5 (♥ vill ♥ ethnic=1 Range for Grouping Variable Continue Eeset 5.0														
6		Minimu	m:	1		Cancel	He	In	12.0						
7		M <u>a</u> ximi	ım:	4		Help	1	-	10.0						
8	- Te	st Type							10.0						
9	V !	Kruskal-Wallis H		□ <u>M</u> edian					.0						
10							<u>O</u> ptions		10.0						
11		Z				J4.0	30.0		16.0						
12	4	2	21	1		62.0	16.0		22.0						
13	4	2	23	1		73.0	27.0		.0						
11	1	2	10	0		<u>84 O</u>	6.0		10.0	•					
		3	SPSS Pro	ocessor is ready						_					

FIGURE 27. Defining the range for grouping (demographic) variable (inter-generation data)

Click **Continue** and then **OK**.

You will get the results as shown in Figure 28. The test will have to be carried out for each generation. Be sure to check the significance at each test.

See the P-value (indicated by the arrow). If the P-value falls below 0.05, we reject the null hypothesis³⁷ and conclude there is disagreement among the groups about the amount of pebbles belonging to each generation. If the P-value falls above 0.05 then we conclude there is agreement among the different groups. The test was carried out for each generation; be sure to check the test significance for each generation.



FIGURE 28. Output of the statistical test for each generation (inter-generation data)

37 The null hypothesis is that all the subgroups allocated the same amount of pebbles for each generation. In the other words, they agreed about the amount of pebbles attributed to each generation.

- e. Conducting advanced data analysis using Excel
 - Generating the table that describes the distribution of access to resources across generation, according to particular subgroups.

You can use a similar procedure to what you did to get a table of pebble distribution according to all respondents (Part c of this section). The differences will be when you construct the pivot table. Instead of just dragging all generations to the data space, you must also drag the column where the particular subgroups are into the column space³⁸ (Figure 29). Here we use ethnic groups as an example.



FIGURE 29. Constructing a pivot table for advanced analyses on inter generation data

³⁸ Subgroups here can be gender, educational level, age, ethnicity, etc.

By clicking the **Finish** button you will get the result (Figure 30). Notice the two subtables for each ethnic group (in this example, as in the previous one, ethnic1 means *Baka*, ethnic2 means *Kako*, while ethnic3 means *Nzime*).

26 h	licrosoft Excel - Pebble2.xl:	6						_ 8 ×
85	Eile Edit ⊻iew Insert Forma	at <u>T</u> ools <u>D</u> ata <u>)</u>	<u>M</u> indow <u>H</u> elp				[- 8 ×
	🖉 🖬 🖨 🖪 🖤 🐰 🗞 🖻 I	≞ 🖋 ທ ∙ ශ	- 🐁 🌮 🗵	£≈ ĝ↓ Z↓ (lu	🔮 🛷 100%	• 🗐		
Ga	ramond 🔹 10 💌 B	<i>Ι</i> <u>υ</u> ≡ ≡	≡ 国 \$ %	, 58 -98 €≣	: 信 回・ ゆ・	A -		
	A1 -		_			_		
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	H-
1		Ethnie						
2	Data	1	2	3	Grand Total			
3	Average of Grands-parents	59.83333333	66.53333333	59.81481481	61.22222222			
4	Average of Me	24.36666667	24.33333333	24.81481481	24.52777778			
5	Average of Grand-child	15.8	9.133333333	15.37037037	14.25			
6								
7								
8								
9								
10								
11								
12								
13								
14								
15								
16								
17								
18								
10	H Sheet1 / Donnéesbrutes /	Feuil2 / Feuil3 / I	Feuil4 / Feuil5 / Fe	euil6 <u>/</u> Feuil7 4				► E
Re	ady						NL	IM

FIGURE 30. Excel table describing comparison of distribution of access to resources across generation based on ethnicity

3. BENEFIT SHARING AMONG STAKEHOLDERS: GUIDELINES

This section provides information on how to set up a spreadsheet for the pebble distribution method on benefit sharing among stakeholders (method described in *The Grab Bag*), and how to enter the data. Next we explain how to perform simple statistical analyses on the data, mainly how to see how the data are distributed and how to generate simple descriptive tables. For those of you who are satisfied with simple analyses, you can stop there. Finally, we provide help for those who want to have more advanced analysis such as testing the significance of opinion differences among different groups (based on ethnicity, age, gender, etc.).

a. Entering the data

- Enter the data using spreadsheet software, such as Excel or Lotus.
- Enter the demographic data, such as user group, gender, age, educational level, etc., in the left-hand columns (Figure 31, columns A–F). Insofar as possible, enter the demographic data using numeric codes. If you have categorical data, such as gender, educational level, etc., you need to convert them into numeric codes (e.g., female = 0, male = 1). It is very important to keep the coding sheet, so you will know the meaning of each code. We recommend you also store the cod-ing information somewhere in the spreadsheet.
- Use one row for each stakeholder. For example, in Figure 31, we include a data set from Long Segar where we identified 7 stakeholders. You should use rows 2–8 (7 rows) for respon-

∭ M ¥5-1	Sillicrosoft Excel - Benefit xis 문호 X 한 Elle Edit View Insert Format Iools Data Window Help _ 문호 X													
	2 8 8 8 C	₩	χ.Β) (C)	1 n	• ~	Σf*	â↓ Z↓	0.98	100% - 😨			÷	
Aria	al	▼ 10) - 1	B <i>I</i>	<u>u</u> ≣	== ⊡ \$	%,	:00 :00	律律 🖽 •	<u>ð</u> • <u>A</u> •				
	H4	•		=	25									
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	1	
1	User group	Sex	Age	Job	Educ	Stakeholders	Cash	Timber	Bushmeat	Fruit/Veg	Medicine	NTFP		
2	1	1	32	2	3	1	5.0	0.0	50.0	30.0	40.0	30.0		
3	1	1	32	2	3	2	5.0	0.0	20.0	30.0	30.0	40.0		
4	1	1	32	2	3	3	5.0	25.0	30.0	25.0	15.0	20.0		
5	1	1	32	2	3	4	70.0	75.0	0.0	5.0	5.0	0.0		
6	1	1	32	2	3	5	15.0	0.0	0.0	5.0	5.0	0.0		
7	1	1	32	2	3	6	0.0	0.0	0.0	5.0	5.0	10.0		
8	1	1	32	2	3	7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0			
9	1	0	27	2	3	1	36.8	21.1	23.5	31.6	38.9	31.6		
10	1	0	27	2	3	2	15.8	21.1	23.5	26.3	22.2	21.1		
11	1	0	27	2	3	3	5.3	10.5	5.9	5.3	5.6	10.5		
12	1	0	27	2	3	4	21.1	31.6	11.8	15.8	11.1	10.5		
13	1	0	27	2	3	5	15.8	10.5	23.5	10.5	11.1	15.8		
14	1	0	27	2	3	6	5.3	5.3	11.8	10.5	11.1	10.5		
15	1	0	27	2	3	7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
16	1	1	26	2	4	1	20.0	20.0	40.0	40.0	50.0	25.0		
17	1	1	26	2	4	2	20.0	20.0	40.0	40.0	50.0	25.0		
18	1	1	26	2	4	3	0.0	0.0	20.0	20.0	0.0	25.0		
10	F F Sheet1	1 Sheet2	26 / Shee	3/2	4	4	45 N	60.0	1 0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	ப்	
Rea	ady							1				NUM	_	

FIGURE 31. Spreadsheets format for forest benefits data

dent1, rows 9–15 (7 rows) for respondent2 and so on. You need one column in which to enter the stakeholder's code³⁹, indicating which rows belong to which stakeholders. Column F in our example above contains the stakeholder's code.

- In the next column, you can enter the amount of pebbles for each stakeholder allocated by the respondents. You need one column for each benefit. In our example above, we use column G for cash, column H for timber, and so on (Figure 31).
- After you finish entering the data for all respondents, do not forget to save the file into Lotus 123 format (*.wk1).

b. Conducting simple data analyses using SPSS⁴⁰

We use SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) to analyse the data.

- Opening the data You can open the Lotus 123 file in an SPSS spreadsheet. Use the *read variable name*⁴¹ option.
- Labelling the data Use the coding sheet that you made when you coded the demographic data into a numeric code to label the data. For labelling the data, place the cursor at the column where the demographic data are. Here, we give an example to label educational level data.

³⁹ Each stakeholder was coded using a number. If we have n stakeholders, we can assign a unique number to each stakeholder arbitrarily. But we suggest you code the stakeholders in a mnemonic fashion that will make your analysis easier. You might, for example, assign 1 to local people, 2 to contractors and traders, and 3 to government and timber concessions. Your coding scheme will depend on your planned use.

⁴⁰ We also made guidelines for those of you who want to carry out simple analyses using Excel (see Part c of this section).

⁴¹ From the SPSS menu bar, you can choose <u>File</u> → <u>Open</u>, then change the file type to Lotus (*.wk1) and choose the file you want to open. The SPSS processor automatically will ask you whether you want to read the variable name or not. Just click on the 'read the variable name' option.

From the menu, choose:

Data Define variable (Figure 32).

Click **Label** button (shown by the arrow). You will be asked to enter your label (Figure 33).

⊞Un	titled - S	SPSS D	Data Edit	or	L.	- 8 ×
Eile	<u>E</u> dit \	jew E	<u>)</u> ata <u>⊤</u> ra	ansform <u>S</u> tatistics <u>G</u> raphs <u>U</u> tilities <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp		
2	-	1	<u>الج</u>	e m tit her so		
1:ec	luc		1			-
	age	job	educ	SI Define Variable	ntfp	
1	32	2.0	1.0	⊻ariable Name: educ	30.0	
2	32	2.0	1.0	Variable Description	40.0	
3	32	2.0	1.0	Type: Numeric3.1	20.0	
4	32	2.0	1.0	Missing Values: None	.0	
5	32	2.0	1.0	Alignment: Right	.0	
6	32	2.0	1.0	Change Settings	10.0	
7	32	2.0	1.0	Type Migsing Values		
8	27	2.0	2.0	Labela Column Formet	31.6	
9	27	2.0	2.0		21.1	
10	27	2.0	2.0	Measurement	10.5	
11	27	2.0	2.0	C Scale C Ordinal C Nominal	10.5	
12	27	2.0	2.0		15.8	
13	27	2.0	2.0	OK Cancel Help	10.5	
1.10	27	20	20			-
		-	_	SPSS Processor is ready		

FIGURE 32. Label button (forest benefits data)

⊞Un	titled -	SPSS I	Data f	Editor										- 8 ×
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew [⊇ata	Transform	<u>S</u> tatisti	cs <u>G</u> rapi	ns <u>U</u> tilities	Window	<u>H</u> elp					
s I	18	5 N	写	≟ [2 <i>4</i> 4	×≣lr≞	l ⊞lnli	ା ଛାଡା							
1:ec	iuc)efine Vari	able	_			-	_	Ľ			-
		lah		⊻ariable I	Name:	educ						-		
	age	Job	et	Variable	Descript	ion					n H	cine	nup	
1	32	2 2.0		Time	lo: odw	Numerica	1					40.0	30.0	
2	: 32	2.0		enne Labe	15. CUU	<i>.</i>			_			30.0	40.0	
3	32	2 2.0	1	⊻ariable Lab	el:					Continue		15.0	20.0	
	30	2 20	t- r	Value Labe	els					Cancel		5.0	0	
	02	2.0	-	Val <u>u</u> e:	2.0				_	Help	1	5.0	.0	
÷	32	2 2.0	-	Valu <u>e</u> Label	Junio	r high scho	ol					5.0	.0	
6	32	2 2.0		Add	1.0 =	"Elementa	ry school"					5.0	10.0	
7	32	2 2.0	Г	Change	2.0 -	"Junior hig	h school"		- 11			.0		
6	27	2.0		Remove								38.9	31.6	
S	27	2.0			-							22.2	21.1	
10	27	2.0	IT	. 3 <u>0</u> 0	ie	• •	ramar	<u>- 11</u> 01	mia			5.6	10.5	
11	27	2.0					01	1		11-1-		11.1	10.5	
12	2 27	2.0					UK	Cano	cei	melp		11.1	15.8	
13	27	2.0	2	0	6.0	5.3	5.3	11.8	8	10.5		11.1	10.5	
1	1 25	1 20	4		7.0			(aL	0		0	٥	_
				ſ	SPSS Pr	ocessoris	ready							

FIGURE 33. Defining labels for educational level on forest benefit data

Enter the demographic label (e.g., junior high school, in the example above) and when you finish click **Continue**.

 \mathbb{K} Follow the same procedure for the other demographic data.

• Checking data distribution

Commonly, we calculate a *mean/average* to measure the distribution of pebbles according to the respondents. However, using the mean has some disadvantages when the data are not spread symmetrically or when there are one or more outliers. If this occurs, we can use the median value instead. To check whether the data are spread symmetrically or not, we use a *boxplot*. With this method we check the data for each benefit separately, because those benefits were considered as separate variables. If the majority of the benefits were distributed asymmetrically, we would use a median instead. On the other hand, if the majority of benefits were distributed symmetrically we should use the *mean/average*.

You can obtain a *boxplot* by following these instructions:

From the menu, choose: <u>G</u>raphs Bo<u>x</u>plot Choose *clustered* and *summaries* for separate variables (Figure 34).

Click on **Define** button.

Enter all the benefits as variables and $stake^{42}$ as the category axis (Figure 35).

You will get the *Boxplot*, as shown in Figure 36. The black line inside the box shows the median position. The upper and lower edges of the box show the position of the 3rd and 1st quartiles, respectively. The data are distributed symmetrically if and only if the median is located in the middle of the box, at approximately the same distance from both the 3rd and 1st quartiles.

⁴² Stake is the column containing the stakeholder's code. In this example, we use stake, an abbreviation of stakeholders, to name the column. You can use a different name, of course.

Unititled - SPSS Data Editor														
Eile I Antoni	Edit ⊻ Lasla	0ew ⊑ ⊡luci	<u>ata ⊺</u> ra	nstorm <u>S</u> tatist⊮ nolatist⊡r≂	cs <u>G</u> rap In≕lan⊳l	ns <u>U</u> tilitie matinavica	is <u>W</u> indo∖ .1	₩ <u>F</u>	lelp					
2-tim	ber 1	<u> 1</u>		<u>B2</u> B2 <u>1= ==</u>			2							
J.um	ade	iob	educ	stakehol	cash	timber	bushme	at	fo	hd	medicine	ntfp		
1	32	2.0	1.0	1.0	5.0	.0	50	0.0		30.0	40.0	30.0		
2	32	2.0	1.0	Boxpl	ot				×	30.0	30.0	40.0		
3	32	2.0	1.0		Simple		C)efine	.	25.0	15.0	20.0		
4 32 2.0 1.0 Ut d current														
5 32 2.0 1.0 ∯ ∳ Clustered Help 5.0 5.0 .0														
6 32 2.0 1.0 Y Help 5.0 5.0 0.0 6 32 2.0 1.0														
7	32	2.0	1.0		Summarie	s for group	sofcases			.0	.0			
8	27	2.0	2.0	• s	Summarie	s of separa	te ⊻ariable:	5		31.6	38.9	31.6		
9	27	2.0	2.0							26.3	22.2	21.1		
10	27	2.0	2.0	3.0	5.3	10.5	6	5.9		5.3	5.6	10.5		
11	27	2.0	2.0	4.0	21.1	31.6	11	.8		15.8	11.1	10.5		
12	27	2.0	2.0	5.0	15.8	10.5	23	5.5		10.5	11.1	15.8		
13	27	2.0	2.0	6.0	5.3	5.3	11	.8		10.5	11.1	10.5		
14	27	20	20	7.0	0	0		-01		0	0	0	•	
				SPSS Pr	ocessori	s ready								

FIGURE 34. Choosing type of boxplot for forest benefits data



FIGURE 35. Choosing variables of forest benefits data (for checking data distribution)



FIGURE 36. Boxplot for forest benefits data

If the data distribution is highly skewed or there are some outliers (usually indicated by asterisks or circles), we suggest you use the median instead.

• Generating the table that describes the forest benefits distribution, according to all respondents

From the menu, choose:

<u>S</u>tatistics Custom <u>T</u>ables <u>B</u>asic Tables

Put all benefits in the *summaries* item. You can do this by clicking the column name and clicking on the arrow in the *summaries* box (Figure 37).

Put stake in subgroups – down item (Figure 38)

⊞Unti Eile	itled -S <u>E</u> dit ⊻	iew <u>D</u>)ata Edit jata <u>T</u> ra	or Insform <u>S</u> tatistic	s <u>G</u> rap	hs <u>U</u> tilitie	s <u>W</u> indow	Help			<u>- 8 ×</u>
s -	1 8 8	10	5 E		田山	<u> </u>	1				
5: 👧	Basic T	ables	-						x		-
E I	bUsero	տար նա	serarol	- s	Symmatie	s:			dicine	ntfp	
	gende	at for the form	9-1-1					Easte	5.0	.0	
	job			Subgroups				Reset	5.0	10.0	
	Stake	nolders	[stake]		own:			Cancel	.0	.0	
	≥cash ≥timber							Help	38.9	31.6	
	⊳bushm ≽Fruit/∖	ieat /eg (fooi	d]	E E	cross:		_		22.2	21.1	
	omedic ontfp	ine					_	Statistics	5.6	10.5	
						Telelees	_	Levout	11.1	10.5	
					eparate	i a <u>p</u> ies:	_	Totals	11.1	15.8	
								Eormat	11.1	10.5	
				C All gam	sinations	(nested) (ctackod)		Titles	.0	.0	
				C monti se	sponocery	(souseu)			50.0	25.0	
16	26	2.0	1.0	2.0	20.0	20.0	40.0	40.0	50.0	25.0	
17	26	2.0	1.0	3.0	.0	.0	20.0	20.0	.0	25.0	
10	26	20	10	4.0	45.0	60.03	ſ	ام ا	0	1 0	•
				SPSS Pr	ocessori	s ready					





FIGURE 38. Step 2 of selecting variables of forest benefits data (for summarising)

Click on the <u>S</u>tatistics button and add Mean or Median (depend on which measure you decide to use) as the cell's statistics.

By clicking the **OK** button, you will get the results (Figure 39).



FIGURE 39. SPSS table describing forest benefits distribution according to all respondents.

c. Conducting simple analysis using Excel

• Generating the table that describes forest benefits distribution, according to all respondents

From the <u>D</u>ata Menu, choose <u>P</u>ivotTable report. You will see a dialogue box as shown in Figure 40.



FIGURE 40. Pivot table wizard (forest benefits data)

Click on Next> button twice and you will see a dialogue box as shown in Figure 41.



FIGURE 41. Constructing a pivot table for simple analysis of forest benefits data (Step 1)

The data space and column where the data for forest benefits are into the data space and column where codes for stakeholders are into column space (Figure 42).

🔀 Microsoft I	ixcel - Benefit.xls		X
😫 Eile Edit	⊻iew Insert Format <u>T</u> ools <u>D</u> ata ⊻	(indow Help	_ <u>_</u>
0688	3 🖪 🖤 🕺 🖻 🖻 🔗 🗠 🗠	· 醫營 Σ ½ 計計 Ш 望 秒	100% - 2
Arial	▼ 10 ▼ B <i>I</i> U ≡ ≡	■關\$%,協感健健	· 3 · A ·
Pive	Table Wizard - Step 3 of 4		? ×
1 Us 2 3	810 8 800 8000 8000 8000 8000 8000 8000	Construct your PivotTable by o the field buttons on the right t diagram on the left.	fragging o the
4			Line and Could in a
5	<u>}</u>		User grout (Frait/Veg)
6	PAGE Stakeh		Sex Medicine
7		Sum of Cash	Age NTFP
8		Sum of Wood	Job
9		Sum of Bushmeat	Educ
10		Bum of Fruit/Veg	
11	BOW	Sum of Medicine TA	Stakehold
12		Sum of NTFP	Cash
13			Wood
14			Pushmeat
16			
17			
18			
19 2		Cancel	< Back Next > Einish
Ready	·		NUM

FIGURE 42. Constructing a pivot table for simple analysis of forest benefits data (Step 2)

The sum is the default statistic. You can change the statistic by clicking on the button and choosing the statistic that you want to calculate (Figure 43).

🔀 Microsoft Excel - Benefit.xls						_ 8 ×
Eile Edit ⊻iew Insert Form	iat <u>T</u> ools <u>D</u> ata <u>W</u> in	dow <u>H</u> elp				_ & ×
DGE GQ∜% b	🖺 ダ 🗠 രം	🍓 📽 Σ fe	â↓ Z↓	U 🖉 🐼	100% - 2	
Arial 🛛 🕇 10 🕇 B	/ U ≣ ≣ ≣	國 \$ %。	+.0 .00	復復 田	· & · A ·	
PivotTable Wizard - S	tep 3 of 4					?×
1 Ut 2 3		Constru the field diagram	t your Piv buttons o on the lef	otTable by d n the right to ft.	ragging o the	
4						User and Could be
5	-					User grou [Fruit/veg]
6 PAGE	Stakehok	<u>c</u> orr	MN Piv	votTable F	ield	<u>?×</u>
7	A	erage of Cash	Sc	ource field:	NTFP	OK
8	AV	erage of Wood	Na	a <u>m</u> e: Avera	ige of NTFP	0
9	Ave	age of Bushmea	9	ımmarize hır		Cancel
10	Aver	age of Fruit/Veg	. 6	um		Delete
12	ROW Ave	age of Medicine	^	ount	_	Atumber
13	1 1	Sum of MTPP	M	lax	_	
14			M	lin roduct		Options >>
15			0	ount Nums		
16						
17						
18 19 H 4 F F			Car	ncel	< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Einish
Ready						NUM

FIGURE 43. Changing the default statistic on forest benefit data.

After you finish changing the statistic, you can click the **Finish** button and you will get the table as shown in Figure 44. If you prefer a smaller number of digits, you can set the decimal place.⁴³

43 To set the decimal place, you can go to the Eormat menu, choose cells, and under category, choose Numbers. Then you can set the decimal place that you want by increasing or decreasing the default decimal place (default = 2).

20	⊠Microsoft Excel - Benefit.xls											
85]Eile Edit ⊻iew Ins	sert Format (Iools Data <u>W</u>	(indow <u>H</u> elp					_ & ×			
	1 🖻 🖬 🖨 🖪 🖤	% 🖻 🛍	🗳 n• 🗠	- 🐁 🍞 🗴	f≈ 2↓ Z↓	血 🖉 🤣	75% 🔹 🕵					
Ar	ial 💌 :	10 v B /	u ≣≣∶	E 🖾 🕏 %	00. 0.+ •.•	律律 🗉	• ð • <u>A</u> •					
	D8 •	=	16.3815789	473684								
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н				
1		Stakeholders										
2	Data	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Grand Total			
3	Average of Cash	21.71052632	16.44736842	8.815789474	36.51315789	15.19736842	1.315789474	0	14.285714			
4	Average of Wood	16.51315789	16.51315789	15.13157895	45.39473684	5.131578947	1.315789474	0	14.285714			
5	Average of Bushmeat	34.63235294	29.63235294	18.97058824	4.191176471	9.632352941	2.941176471	0	14.285714			
6	Average of Fruit/Veg	31.64473684	30.32894737	18.81578947	5.197368421	10.13157895	3.881578947	0	14.285714			
7	Average of Medicine	39.72222222	33.05555556	12.63888889	4.027777778	6.527777778	4.027777778	0	14.285714			
8	Average of NTFP	31.64473684	31.51315789	16.38157895	2.631578947	12.69736842	5.131578947	0	14.285714			
9												
10												
11												
12												
13												
14												
15	1											
16												
17												
18												
19												
20												
21												
22												
23												
24												
25. 4 4	> > Sheet6 Sheet	8 / Sheet1 / Sk	neet2 / Sheet3 /	/	1	•			`			
Re	eady				1				NUM			

FIGURE 44. Excel table describing forest benefits distribution according to all respondents.

d. Conducting advanced data analyses using SPSS

• Generating the table that describes forest benefits distribution, according to a particular subgroup.

As in the case of the 'access to resources by generation' pebble sorting method, for which analysis was described earlier, it may be useful to compare different subgroups within each demographic element (ethnicity, gender, educational level, etc.), according to their opinions on the distribution of pebbles among stakeholders. To compare those subgroups' opinions, we need to be able to describe forest benefits distribution among stakeholders, according to each subgroup. You can follow our instructions below to get those figures. Imagine that we have a set of respondents with two educational levels, elementary and junior high school. 🗮 From the Menu choose

<u>D</u>ata Select <u>C</u>ases

Click on if condition is satisfied (Figure 45).



FIGURE 45. Selecting cases for specified subgroup on forest benefits data

Click on the *If* button.

Look at your coding sheet to determine the codes for elementary school and junior high school (for instance, you may have elementary school = 1, junior high school = 2)

Type in the conditional box (Figure 46): *educ* = 1 (you will filter the data which has a value of 1 on the *educate* column)

Then click **Continue** and **OK** (Figure 46).

⊞Untitled - SPSS Data Editor		ļ	- 8 ×							
File Edit View Data Transform Statistics Graphs Utilities Window Help										
Select Cases			-							
Select Select G Allower			_							
Select Cases: If	Nicine	ntfp								
User group [usergrp] deuc=1	F	30.0								
ease if										
le age	-	20.0								
		.0								
(a) cash (a) timber - <= >= 4 5 6 ABS(numexor)		.0								
bushmeat I = "= 1 2 3 ANY(test,value,) ARSIN(numexor)		10.0								
Pruit/Veg [todd] ARTAN(numexpr) CDENIOR		.0								
ntfp	-	31.6								
Continue Concel Help	F	21.1								
	ŀ	10.5								
	11.1	10.5	-							
OK Paste Reset Cancel Help	11.1	15.8	-							
	44.4	10.5	_							
13 27 2.0 2.0 0.0 5.3 5.3 11.8 10.5	0.1	10.5								
	0.	O								
SPSS Processor is ready	J	J								

FIGURE 46. Filtering lower educational level respondents on forest benefits data

Now, if you notice on the SPSS spreadsheet, there may be rows with values that are not equal to 1 on *educ* column. These are respondents with junior high school educational level and are not included in the analysis, thus are inactive. This inactive status is marked by a diagonal line at the row number (see Figure 47).

🛗 Unti	Dutitled - SPSS Data Editor												
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit ⊻	(iew <u>E</u>	<u>)</u> ata <u>T</u> ra	ansform <u>S</u> tatisti	cs <u>G</u> rap	ohs <u>U</u> tiliti∈	is <u>W</u> indow [<u>H</u> elp					
i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		10	5	19 44 * 1 1 1 1	田山	<u> </u>							
1:sta	ke		1										
	age	job	educ	stake	cash	timber	bushmeat	food	medicine	ntfp	fi		
2	32	2.0	1.0	2.0	5.0	.0	20.0	30.0	30.0	40.0			
3	32	2.0	1.0	3.0	5.0	25.0	30.0	25.0	15.0	20.0			
4	32	2.0	1.0	4.0	80.0	75.0	.0	5.0	5.0	.0			
5	32	2.0	1.0	5.0	5.0	.0	.0	5.0	5.0	.0			
6	32	2.0	1.0	6.0	.0	.0	.0	5.0	5.0	10.0			
7	32	2.0	1.0	7.0	.0	.0	.0	.0	.0	.0			
/8	27	2.0	2.0	1.0	36.8	21.1	23.5	31.6	38.9	31.6			
9	27	2.0	2.0	2.0	15.8	21.1	23.5	26.3	22.2	21.1			
10	27	2.0	2.0	3.0	5.3	10.5	5.9	5.3	5.6	10.5			
11	27	2.0	2.0	4.0	21.1	31.6	11.8	15.8	11.1	10.5			
12	27	2.0	2.0	5.0	15.8	10.5	23.5	10.5	11.1	15.8			
13	27	2.0	2.0	6.0	5.3	5.3	11.8	10.5	11.1	10.5			
14	27	2.0	2.0	7.0	.0	.0	.0	.0	.0	.0			
15	26	20	10	1.0	20.0	20.0	10.0	40.0	50.0	25.0	+		
_			-	SPSS Processor is ready Filter On									

FIGURE 47. Cases selection result (forest benefits data)

 \mathbb{R} Do the same step as the fourth step of Part b of this section, for getting the average pebble distribution according to respondents with an elementary school educational level (Figure 48).

To get the average pebble distribution according to respondents with a junior high school educational level, simply change the conditional expression to : educ = 2

Then do the same steps as in the fourth step of Part b of this section, as above.

Now, we can compare the differences of forest benefits distribution among two groups of stakeholders with different educational levels (Figure 49).

📾 Output1 - SPSS View	rer					_ 5	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit ⊻iew Insert	t F <u>o</u> rmat <u>S</u> tatistics <u>G</u> r	aphs <u>U</u> tilities	Window He	alp			
68669	<u> </u>	2					
<pre>+ + - </pre>	틧핏밎						
⊡E Output							_
⊟ ables ⊕							
Rotes	→ Tables Edu	ıc = 1					
Lable 1							
					Stakeholders		_
					Log.		Г
		Kenyah	Kutai	Other	Company	Govt	I N
	CASH	12.5	12.5	2.5	62.5	10.0	
	TIMBER	10.0	10.0	12.5	67.5	.0	
	BUSHMEAT	45.0	30.0	25.0	.0	.0	
	Fruit/Veg	35.0	35.0	22.5	2.5	2.5	
	MEDICINE	45.0	40.0	7.5	2.5	2.5	
	NTFP	27.5	32.5	22.5	.0	12.5	
	•						E
	9	SPSS Process	or is ready	_			

FIGURE 48. Forest benefits distribution among stakeholders according to respondents with lower educational level



FIGURE 49. Comparison of forest benefits distribution among stakeholders based on educational level

If you have more than two categories in your demographic data (e.g., three or more educational levels), you can continue this same step to get the *mean/median* value of pebble distribution among stakeholders for the other categories.

• Testing agreement/disagreement among different groups on the distribution of forest benefits

You can check whether there is agreement or disagreement among the subgroups within each demographic characteristic⁴⁴ about the amount of forest benefits attributed to each stakeholder. You can do the analysis for each stakeholder. Filter the data so that only rows for selected stakeholders are active and the other rows are inactive (see above, on how to filter subgroups of data). In Figure 50, we filter the data so that only rows for Stake = 1 (Kenyah) are active while the others are inactive.

From menu, choose:

<u>S</u>tatistics <u>N</u>onparametric test <u>2</u> independent samples or <u>K</u> independent samples⁴⁵

⁴⁴ Demographics characteristics here could be gender, educational level, ethnicity, etc.

⁴⁵ If you would like to test the data with only two categories or two groups, you should choose <u>2</u> independent samples and then use the Mann-Whitney test. If you are dealing with data in more than two categories, you should choose <u>K</u>-independent samples, and then use the Kruskall-Wallis test.

🇰 Unti	tled - S	SPSS E	ata Edit	or									- 8 ×	
<u>F</u> ile j	<u>E</u> dit ⊻	jew <u>E</u>	jata <u>⊤</u> ra	nsform	Statistic	s <u>G</u> rapi	hs <u>U</u> tilitie:	s <u>W</u> indow <u>I</u>	delp					
68	8	10	10 H	E? #4	S <u>u</u> m Curet	marize								
2:tim	ber		0		Com	pare <u>M</u> ea	ns 🕨						-	
	age	job	educ	sta	Gen	eral Linea	r Model 🔸	pushmeat	food	m	edicine	ntfp	fi	
_1	32	2.0	1.0		<u>L</u> orn <u>R</u> eg	elate ression	,	50.0	30.0		40.0	30.0		
2	32	2.0	1.0		Logi	inear	*	20.0	30.0		30.0	40.0		
3	32	2.0	1.0		Date	sny Reductio	n 🕨	30.0	25.0		15.0	20.0		
4	32	2.0	1.0		Sc <u>a</u> l	Scale			E 0		5.0	.0		
<u>⁄5</u>	32	2.0	1.0		Time				Binomial			.0		
6	32	2.0	1.0		Surv	ival	*	Buns	Buns 1-Sample K-S 2 Independent Samples Kindependent Samples			10.0		
$\overline{\Lambda}$	32	2.0	1.0		7 0	pie Hespi	onse 🔸	2 Independ				0		
\leq	27	2.0	2.0		1.0	26.0	21.1	<u>K</u> Independ				21.6		
	27	2.0	2.0		1.0	30.0	21.1	2 Related : K Related	Samples Samples		30.9	51.0	_	
<u>_</u> 9	27	2.0	2.0		2.0	15.8	21.1	111101010104	gampioo		22.2	21.1		
10	27	2.0	2.0		3.0	5.3	10.5	5.9	5.3		5.6	10.5		
11	27	2.0	2.0		4.0	21.1	31.6	11.8	15.8		11.1	10.5		
12	27	2.0	2.0		5.0	15.8	10.5	23.5	10.5		11.1	15.8		
13	27	2.0	2.0		6.0	5.3	5.3	11.8	10.5		11.1	10.5		
11	27	20	20		7.0		0	0	٥		0	0	-	
2 Independent Samples SF						PSS Processor is ready			Filter On					

FIGURE 50. Filtering data for Kenyah and selecting statistical test (forest benefits data)

Put the test variables⁴⁶ into the *test variable list* box and grouping variable into the *grouping variable* box (Figure 51). You then should define a minimum and a maximum value of the grouping variable (you can see the meaning of each code on your coding sheet). See Figure 52 for details.

⁴⁶ Test variables' should be the column containing the pebble for each benefit. The grouping variable is the column containing the demographic characteristics of subgroups that we want to compare.

⊞ Unti	itled - S	PSS D)ata Edit	lor								- 8 ×	
File	<u>E</u> dit ⊻	iew <u>C</u>	<u>)</u> ata <u>T</u> ra	ansform <u>S</u> tatisti	os <u>G</u> rap	hs <u>U</u> tilitie	s <u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp					
11:bi	ushme	at	11	.76470588235	529							Ê	
	age	調工	wo-Indep	endent-Sampl	es Tests				×	ne	ntfp	fi	
1	32	*	User grou	ip [usergrp]		<u>T</u> est Varia	ble List:	_ [OK.	40.0	30.0		
12	32		gender age			r⊛cash r⊛timber			<u>P</u> aste	30.0	40.0		
3	32	* *	job Stakeholo	iers [stake]		l i i i bushme i i i i bushme i i i i bushme	eat eg [food]		<u>R</u> eset	15.0	20.0		
4	32	۲	stake=1 (F	FILTER) [filter_\$]		A medicir	ne /ariable:	-	Cancel	5.0	.0		
5	32			5.0	.0								
6	32					Define G	roups	_		5.0	10.0		
\checkmark	32	г	est Type							.0	.0		
8	27	v	Mann-W	hitney U		olmogorov	-Smirnov Z			38.9	31.6		
<u> </u>	27		Mo <u>s</u> es e	xtreme reactions	Γ⊻	Vald-Wolfo	witz runs			22.2	21.1		
10	27						Ontions	_		5.6	10.5		
11	27									11.1	10.5		
12	27	2.0	2.0	5.0	15.8	10.5	23.5	10.5		11.1	15.8		
13	27	2.0	2.0	6.0	5.3	5.3	11.8	10.5		11.1	10.5		
1 11	27	2.0	20	7.0	0	0	L0	L0		0	0	•	
			_	SPSS Pr	ocessori	s ready			Filter On				

FIGURE 51. Selecting test variables and grouping variable (forest benefits data)

⊞ Un I	itled - S	PSS D	ata Edit	or								- 8 ×
File	Edit ⊻	iew <u>D</u>	ata. <u>⊤</u> ra	unsform <u>S</u> tatisti	cs <u>G</u> rap Ir≂ria⇒i	hs <u>U</u> tilitie	s <u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp				
		90	<u>ه</u>			<u> </u>	2					
11:b	ushme	at	11	.7647058823	529			_				Ĺ
	age	38 ⊺v	vo-Indep	endent-Sampl	es Tests	;			×r	ne	ntfp	fi
1	32	- @U	Jser grou	p [usergrp]		<u>T</u> est Varia	ble List:	_	ок 4	0.0	30.0	
/2	32	- (*) (*)	jender \ge			ræcash reimber			Paste 3	30.0	40.0	
3	32	(∳) ⊛9	ob Stakeholo	lers fatalian		bushme Control of the second	eat ar Rood		Reset 1	5.0	20.0	
4	32	(∳) s	take=1 (F	Two Indep	endent S	amples: L)efine Group		Cancel	5.0	.0	
5	32			Group <u>1</u> :	1		Contin	ue –	Help	5.0	.0	
6	32			Group <u>2</u> :	2		Canc	el –	[5.0	10.0	
1	32	гТе	est Type				Help			.0	.0	
8	27	N	<u>M</u> ann-Wi	nitn ey U		olmogorov	-Smirnov 2		3	8.9	31.6	
9	27		Mo <u>s</u> es e	xtreme reactions	ΓV	Vald-Wolfo	witz runs		2	2.2	21.1	
10	27						Options			5.6	10.5	
11	27					_		-	1	1.1	10.5	
12	27	2.0	2.0	5.0	15.8	10.5	23.5	10.5	1	1.1	15.8	
13	27	2.0	2.0	6.0	5.3	5.3	11.8	10.5	1	1.1	10.5	
11	1 27	20	20	7.0	٥	ń	0	<u>م</u>		0	0	+
				SPSS P	rocessor i	s ready			Filter On			

FIGURE 52. Defining the range for grouping variable (forest benefits data)

Click Continue and then OK.

You will get the results as shown in Figure 53. The test will be carried out for each benefit. Be sure to check the significance of each test.

See the P-value (indicated by the arrow). If the P-value falls below 0.05, we reject the null hypothesis⁴⁷ and conclude there is disagreement among the groups about the amount of pebbles belonging to the selected stakeholder (Kenyah, in this case). If the P-value falls above 0.05, then we conclude there is agreement among the different groups.

Bo the same step to test agreement/disagreement about the amount of forest benefits attributed to the other stakeholders. For instance, if you want to check agreement/disagreement among different groups on amount of pebbles attributed to *Kutai*, you can filter the data so that only rows with *Stake* = 2 (*Kutai*) are active while the others are inactive).

⁴⁷ Under each forest benefit, the null hypothesis is: That all the subgroups allocated the same amount of pebbles for the stakeholder being tested. In the other words, all subgroups agreed about the amount of corresponding forest benefits attributed to the stakeholder being tested.



FIGURE 53. Output of statistical test for Kenyah based on educational level (forest benefit data)

- e. Conducting advanced data analysis using Excel
 - Generating the table that describes forest benefits distribution, according to a particular subgroup

You can use a similar procedure to generate a table of forest benefits distribution according to all respondents (Part c of this section). The difference will be when you construct the pivot table. Instead of just dragging all benefits to the data space and stakeholders to the column space, you must also drag the column where the particular demographic characteristics are into the row space⁴⁸ (Figure 54). In this example, we use educational level.

⁴⁸ Demographic characteristics here can be gender, educational level, age, ethnicity, etc.

🔀 Microsoft Excel - Benefit.xls	_ 8 ×
😫 Eile Edit View Insert Format Iools Data Window Help	_ 8 ×
□ ☞ ■ 毎 0. ♡ よ 貼 卮 ダ い・? ・ 傷 ぐ Σ ヶ タ ネ 仙 愛 移 100% - 図	
Arial - 10 - B J U 三三三网 \$ % , 12 23 使使用・効・A・	
PivotTable Wizard - Step 3 of 4	? ×
Construct your PivotTable by dragging the field buttons on the right to the diagram on the left.	Reg and EnuitMan
5 DAGE Statemental COLUMN	Cay Madiata
6 Educ	Sex Medicine
7 Average of Cash	Age NTFP
8 Average of Wood	Job
9 Average of Bushmea	Educ
10 Average of Hruit/Veg	Stakehold
12 Average of Medicine LA	Stakenold
12 I Attended of MTPP 3	Cash
14	Wood
15	Bushmeat
16	
17	
18	
Cancel < Back N	ext > <u>E</u> inish
Ready	NUM

FIGURE 54. Constructing a pivot table for advanced analysis of forest benefits data

By clicking the **Finish** button, you will get the result (Figure 55). Notice the two sub-tables for each educational level (in this example, as in the previous one, educational level 1 means elementary school, while educational level 2 means junior high school).
ХM	icrosoft Exc	el - Benefit.xls					_ 8 ×
5	Eile <u>E</u> dit ⊻ie	ew Insert Format Tools 🛾	ata <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp				_ 8 ×
	686	à∜ % B B ⊄ ∽	* Ci * 🚳 🍘	Σf≈ ĝ↓ ≩↓ ∭u	1 🔮 🚯 100% -	2	
Aria	al	• 10 • B I U	: = = 🖬 \$	%, 🐭 🕫 🗊	: 律 🔜 • ぬ •	<u>A</u> -	
	A3	- = 1					
	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G -
1			Stakeholders				
2	Educ	Data	1	2	3	4	
3	1	Average of Cash	20.92105263	10.39473684	5.131578947	45.52631579	15.3947:
4		Average of Wood	10.52631579	10.52631579	17.76315789	53.28947368	5.26315
5		Average of Bushmeat	36.76470588	21.76470588	17.94117647	5.882352941	11.76470
6		Average of Fruit/Veg	30.78947368	28.15789474	15.13157895	10.39473684	7.76315
7		Average of Medicine	39.4444444	26.11111111	10.27777778	8.055555556	8.055555
8		Average of NTFP	30.78947368	30.52631579	15.26315789	5.263157895	7.894736
9	2	Average of Cash	22.5	22.5	12.5	27.5	
10		Average of Wood	22.5	22.5	12.5	37.5	
11		Average of Bushmeat	32.5	37.5	20	2.5	
12		Average of Fruit/Veg	32.5	32.5	22.5	0	
13		Average of Medicine	40	40	15	0	
14		Average of NTFP	32.5	32.5	17.5	0	
15	Total Avera	age of Cash	21.71052632	16.44736842	8.815789474	36.51315789	15.1973
16	Total Avera	age of Wood	16.51315789	16.51315789	15.13157895	45.39473684	5.13157
17	Total Avera	age of Bushmeat	34.63235294	29.63235294	18.97058824	4.191176471	9.63235
18	Total Avera	age of Fruit/Veg	31.64473684	30.32894737	18.81578947	5.197368421	10.1315
1Q	Total Aver	Sheet8 Sheet9 / Sheet1 / Sheet8	39 72222222 Sheet2 / Sheet3 /	33.05555556	12 63888889	4 027777778	6 52777 •
Rea	ady				Sum=686.71	42857	NUM

FIGURE 55. Excel table describing comparison of forest benefits distribution based on educational level

C – ANALYSIS OF METHODS FOR RIGHTS AND MEANS TO MANAGE

This section contains guidance for analysing the results from a pebble distribution method found useful in assessing people's rights and means to manage forests in a co-operative and equitable manner. We have divided the presentation into three parts. We first provide information on how to set up the spreadsheet and enter the data from this pebble distribution method. Next, we explain how to perform simple statistical analyses on the data, including how to examine the data distribution and how to generate simple descriptive tables. For those of you who are satisfied with simple analyses, you can stop there. The final part is intended for those who want to conduct more advanced analyses, such as testing the significance of opinion differences among different groups within each demographic characteristics (based on ethnicity, age, gender, etc.).

1. RIGHTS TO MANAGE THE FOREST GUIDELINES

- a. Entering the data
 Enter the data using a spreadsheet programme, such as Excel or Lotus.
 - Enter the demographic data, such as user group, gender, age, educational level, etc. in the left-hand columns (as shown in Figure 56, columns A–F). Insofar as possible, enter the demographic data using numeric codes. So if you have categorical data, such as gender, educational level, etc., you need to convert them into numeric codes (e.g., female = 0, male = 1, etc.). It is very important to keep a coding sheet, so you will know the meaning of each code. You will need the coding sheet when you undertake the analysis.

X	dicrosoft E	Excel - Ri	ght.xls											- 8 :
¥5	Eile Edit	⊻iew [ns	ert Form	at <u>T</u> o	ols <u>D</u> ata	Wind	dow He	elp						_ 8 >
	i 🖙 🖬 🤞	∋ Q. V	X 🗈	B 🛇	1 0 - 0	¥ ¥		Σf		101.9	087	75% 👻	2	
Ar	ial	• 1	1 • B	I	I 🖻 🗉	1		s %,	*.0 .0	建筑	=	8.1	<u>\</u> •	
	N2			,	AVERAG	ЭE(Н	12:M2)						
	A	В	С	2	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	M	N
1	Resp No	User Grp	Gender	ALC:	Educate	Job	Stake	Right1	Right2	Right3	Right4	Right5	Right6	Average of Right
2	1	1		45	1	1	1	24.0	20.0	20.0	20.0	18.0	26.5	21.4
3	1	1	1	45	1	1	2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
4	1	1	1	45	1	1	3	22.0	20.0	18.0	20.0	16.0	24.5	20.1
5	1	1	1	45	1	1	- 4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
6	1	1	1	45	1	1	5	22.0	22.0	20.0	20.0	20.0	20.4	20.7
7	1	1	1	45	1	1	6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
8	1	1	1	45	1	1	7	10.0	16.0	18.0	12.0	14.0	10.2	13.4
9	1	1	1	45	1	1	8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
10	1	1	1	45	1	1	9	22.0	22.0	24.0	28.0	32.0	18.4	24.4
11	1	1	1	45	1	1	10	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
12	2	2	1	36	1	1	1	20.0	16.0	20.0	20.0	18.0	20.0	19.0
13	2	2	1	36	1	1	2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
14	2	2	1	36	1	1	3	16.0	24.0	20.0	18.0	18.0	20.0	19.3
15	2	2	1	36	1	1	4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
16	2	2	1	36	1	1	5	14.0	20.0	20.0	18.0	18.0	20.0	18.3
17	2	2	1	36	1	1	6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
18	2	2	1	36	1	1	7	28.0	20.0	18.0	14.0	20.0	14.0	19.0
19	2	2	1	36	1	1	8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
20	2	2	1	36	1	1	9	22.0	20.0	22.0	30.0	26.0	26.0	24.3
21	2	2	1	36	1	1	10	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
22	3	3	1	20	1	1	1	15.0	0.0	29.0	0.0	43.1	0.0	14.5
23	3	3	1	20	1	1	2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
24	3	3	1	20	1	1	3	15.0	0.0	15.0	0.0	18.6	33.3	13.7
25 4 4	P H Shee	et1 / Sheet2	/ Sheet3	20	1	1	Л	0.0	0.0	1	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.00
Re	ady													NUM

FIGURE 56. Spreadsheet format for rights to manage data

- If you have a certain number (*n*) of stakeholders, you should use *n* rows for each respondent, or in other words, one row for each stakeholder. For example, in Figure 56, we use a data set from Bulungan⁴⁹ where we identified 10 stakeholders. We use rows 2–11 (10 rows) for respondent1, rows 12–21 (10 rows) for respondent2, and so on. We need one column in which to enter the stakeholder's code⁵⁰, indicating which rows belong to which stakeholders. Column G in our example above contains the stakeholder's code.
- You can enter the number of pebbles for each stakeholder allocated by the respondents in the next six columns. Column H for Right1 (Determining/protecting Boundaries), Column I for Right2 (Develop/apply Rules/Regulations), and so on.

⁴⁹ Bulungan is located in East Kalimantan, Indonesia, one of CIFOR's research sites.

⁵⁰ Each stakeholder was coded using a number. If we have n stakeholders, we assign 1-n to each stakeholder arbitrarily. But we suggest you code the stakeholders in a mnemonic fashion that will make some sort of intuitive sense to you. In our analyses, big numbers were given to stakeholders with a close relationship with government and small numbers to local people, who in many cases have little interaction with the government.

- Use the next to the last column on the right (Right6) for getting the average of rights for each stakeholder. To get the average, simply use Excel's AVERAGE function⁵¹. For instance, cell N2 in Figure 56 is an average of cell H2 to cell M2 (shown by the arrow).
- After you finish entering the data for all respondents, don't forget to save the file in Lotus 123 format (*.wk1).

b. Conducting simple data analyses using SPSS⁵²

We have used SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) to analyse the data.

- Opening the data—You can open the Lotus 123 file in an SPSS spreadsheet. Use the read variable name option.⁵³
- Labelling the data—Use the coding sheet, the one that you made when you coded the demographic data into numeric codes, to label the data. For labelling the data, place the cursor at the column containing the demographic data. Here we give an example to label educational level data.

From the menu, choose: \underline{D} ata

 $\underline{\mathbf{D}}$ efine variable (Figure 57)

Click **Label** button (shown by the arrow). You will be asked to enter your label (Figure 58).

⁵¹ To use the AVERAGE function, just type = AVERAGE (Start Cell:End Cell). Start and end cell is the range to be averaged. For example, in Figure 1, cell N2 is the average of H2 to M2 (shown by the arrow).

⁵² We have also made guidelines for those of you who want to carry out simple analyses using Excel (see Part c of this section).

From the SPSS menu bar, you can choose <u>File</u> → <u>O</u>pen, then change the file type to Lotus (*.wk1) and choose the file you want to open. The SPSS processor automatically will ask you whether you want to read the variable name or not. Click on the 'read the variable names' option.

🖮 Unt	itled - SPS	S Data	Editor							_ 8 ×
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit ⊻iew	<u>D</u> ata	Transform	Statistics	s <u>G</u> raphs <u>U</u> tiliti	es <u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp			
		2 <u>5</u>	<u>⊨</u>]? #4	×∏ ḿ	ere ac	2				
1:ed	ucate		1							-
	gender	age	educate	job	stake	right1	right2	right3	right4	rig
1	1	45	1	De	fine Variable				×	
2	1	45	1		⊻ariable Name:	educate				
3	1	45	1	T	Variable Descript	ion				
4	1	45	1		Variable Label:	Numeric7.0				
5	1	45	1		Missing Values:	None				
6	1	45	1		Alignment	Right				H
7	1	45	1		Change Settings					H
8	1	45	1			Туре	Mi <u>s</u> sing	Values		
9	1	45	1			Labels	Column	Format		
10	1	45	1		~					H.
11	1	36	1		Measurement					
12	1	36	1		C Scale	Ordina	al C	Nominal		
13	1	36	1							
11	1	36	1	t			ОК	Cancel	Help	
			SE	-SS Pro	cessor is ready					

FIGURE 57. Label button (rights to manage data)

⊞Un	titled	- SPSS	Data	Editor									_ 8 ×
File	<u>E</u> dit	⊻iew	<u>D</u> ata	Transform	Statistics	<u>G</u> raphs	Utilities	Window	<u>H</u> elp				
<u>ک</u>	18	Щ к) <u>5</u>	<u>⊨</u> []2 44	ह्या क्वा ह	≣Iw IIII	କ୍ଷାଦ୍ଧା				-		
1:ec	lucat	e		Define Variat)10 			_		_			*
	ae	nder	age	⊻ariable Na	ame: e	ducate					t3	right4	ric
1	-	1	47	Variable De	escription							20.0	
	-			efine Labels)	: educat	e					× 0.0	20.0	
2	2	1	4	Variable Label					-	Continue	0.	.0	
з	3	1	4		_						- B.0	20.0	
4	l I	1	4	Val <u>u</u> e:	2	_				Cancel	.0	.0	
5	5	1	4	Valu <u>e</u> Label:	Junior Hi	gh school				Help	p.o	20.0	
6	5	1	4	Add	1 = "Eler	nentary sc	hool"		11		.0	.0	
7		1	4	Change							В.О	12.0	
8	3	1	4	Bemove							.0	.0	
9)	1	4	C Seels		6 Owl		C Nor	inal		¥.0	28.0	
10)	1	45	C S <u>C</u> ale		o <u>o</u> run	101	0 1400	11101		.0	.0	
11		1	36				OK	Can	[Help	0.0	20.0	
12	2	1	36			_	U.			, telp	.0	.0	
13	3	1	36	1	1	Lundaye	_м	16	0.0	24.0	20.0	18.0	
1/1/	1	1	26	1	1	Lundauo	F			0	٥	0	-
			_	SF	PSS Proci	essor is rea	ady						

FIGURE 58. Defining labels for educational level data (rights to manage data)

Enter the demographic label (e.g., junior high school, in the example above) and when you finish, click **Continue**.

🔻 Follow the same procedure for the other demographic data.

• Checking data distribution

Commonly, we calculate a *mean/average* to measure the distribution of pebbles according to the respondents. However, using a *mean* has some disadvantages when the data are not spread symmetrically or when there are one or more outliers. If this occurs, we can use median value instead. To check whether the data are spread symmetrically or not, we use a *boxplot*.

You can obtain a *boxplot* by following these instructions:

From the menu, choose: <u>G</u>raph Bo<u>x</u>plot

Choose simple and summaries for groups of cases (Figure 59).

Click on **Define**.

Enter *average of rights* as variable and *stake* as category axis (Figure 60).

You will get the boxplot as shown in Figure 61. The black line inside the box shows the median position. The upper and lower edges of the box show the position of the 3rd and 1st quartiles, respectively. The data are distributed symmetrically if and only if the median is located in the middle of the box, at approximately the same distance from both the 3rd and 1st quartiles.

⊞ Rigl	ht - SPSS Di	ata Editor Doto - Tron	oform Stati	tion Crock	. Utilitico	Window Holo			- 8	>
			sionni <u>s</u> icum 2 #4 >⊞ E	505 <u>0</u> 100∏ 51 ⊞ ∎ ∎ ∏	<u>୍</u> ରାଲ୍ଟ (ବ୍ରାଭା	<u>window Tie</u> lb				
1:ave	rage	21.4	21768707	483	الكلك ك				-	P
	right2	right3	right4	right5	right6	average	Э	var	var	ĺ
1	20.0	20.0	20.0	18.0	26.5		21.4			
2	.0	.0	Box	plot		×	.0			
3	20.0	18.0	2 68	l∔∳ Simple		Define	20.1			
4	.0	.0	<u>[</u>	<u>··</u>		Cancel	.0			
5	22.0	20.0	2 Ø ^Ø	¢ [₿] Clustere	d	Help	20.7			
6	.0	.0	-D	ata in Chart A	re		.0			
7	16.0	18.0	1	Summaries	for arouns of	Cases	13.4			
8	.0	.0		Summaries	of separate ⊻	ariables	.0			
9	22.0	24.0	2				24.4			
10	.0	.0	.0	.0	.0		.0			
11	16.0	20.0	20.0	18.0	20.0		19.0			
12	.0	.0	.0	.0	.0		.0			
13	24.0	20.0	18.0	18.0	20.0		19.3			
11	0	0		0			0			f
						ĺ				

FIGURE 59. Choosing type of boxplot for rights to manage data



FIGURE 60. Choosing variables of rights to manage data (for checking data distribution)



FIGURE 61. Boxplot for rights to manage data

If the data distribution is highly skewed or there are some outliers (usually indicated by asterisks or circles), we suggest you use the median instead.

• Generating the table that describes the pebble distribution according to all respondents

From the menu, choose: Statistics \underline{S} tatistics

 \underline{S} tatistics Custom \underline{T} ables \underline{B} asic Tables

Put *average of rights* in the *summaries* box. You can do this by clicking the column name and clicking on the arrow beside the *summaries* box (Figure 62).

🖮 Rig									_ 5	×
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>D</u> a	ta <u>⊤</u> ransform	Statistics (Graphs	Utilities W	/indow	<u>H</u> elp			
s I	0	5 <u>- 1</u> M	1百日日	車国	<u>s</u> @					
1: 🕫	Basic Tables						×			•
	RESP. NO [res	o_no]	Summ	aries:		_	OK	right1	right2	
	USER GRP [us	ergrp]					Easte	24.0	20.0	
	ege ege	Su	baroups				Beset	.0	.0	
	job		<u>D</u> own:			- 11	Cancel	22.0	20.0	
	i⊳stake ⊳right1						Help	.0	.0	
	i∳right2 i∳right3		Acros	s:				22.0	22.0	
	iright4 iright5				Statistics	.0				
	right6	nt faverage	— 	T-1-	la si		Lavout	10.0	16.0	
	,		Separ	ate la <u>c</u>	iles:	-	Totals	.0		
							Format	22.0	22.0	
		© 0	All pomisinati		sted) skedt		Titles	.0		
			Internet projectory			20.0	16.0			
12	2	2	1	1	1	2	.0			
13	2	2	1	36	1	1	2	16.0	24.0	
1		1 1	11	1	ul 1.	2	لــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ		-	
		5								

FIGURE 62. Step 1 of selecting variables of rights to manage data (for summarising)

Put stake in subgroups – down box (Figure 63).

■ Right - SPSS Data Edito File Edit View Data 1	or Fransform Statistics	Graphs	Utilities Wir	ndow	Help		_ # ×			
	 - [2] #4] *[11] E	 14 15	<u>~</u>							
1: Basic Tables	-				×		*			
RESP. NO [resp. no]	Sum	maries:		-	ок	right1	right2			
USER GRP [usergrp]		verage o	f Right [averag	1	Paste	24.0	20.0			
(*) age	-Subgroups-				<u>R</u> eset	.0	٩.			
() job	Dow	n: Iako		-	Cancel	22.0	20.0			
itake ight1		iune			Help	.0	.0			
	Acro	SS:				22.0	22.0			
right4 right5					Statistics	.0				
 right6 	[wata Tak	laa		Layout	10.0	16.0			
_	Sep.	arate ra <u>r</u>	ies.	1	Totals	.0				
_					Eormat	22.0	22.0			
	C All pomising	tions (ne ateiv (sta			 Titles	.0				
						20.0	16.0			
12 2	2 1	36	1	1	2	.0				
13 2	2 1	36	1	1	2	16.0	24.0			
	2 1	36	1	1	1 2	ل ما				
	SPSS Processor is ready									

FIGURE 63. Step 2 of selecting variables of rights to manage data (for summarising)

Click on <u>S</u>tatistics button and add Mean or Median (depending on which measure you decide to use) as the cell's statistics.

By clicking the **OK** button, you will get the results (Figure 64).



FIGURE 64. SPSS table describing distribution of rights to manage among stakeholders, according to all respondents

- c. Conducting simple data analysis using Excel
 - Generating the table that describes the distribution of rights to manage, according to all respondents

From the <u>D</u>ata Menu choose, <u>P</u>ivotTable report, you will see the dialogue box as shown in Figure 65.



FIGURE 65. Pivot table wizard (rights to manage data)

Click on **Next** button twice and you will see the dialogue box as shown in Figure 66.

🔀 Microsoft Excel -	Right.xls								_ 8 ×
Eile Edit View	(nsert Format 🗓	ools <u>D</u> ata	Window Help	D					_ & ×
0088884	∜ រ ലൈ ഭ<	∮ ທ • ດ	- 68	$\Sigma = f_{\mathcal{R}}$	âi ăi	0	75% 🖣	2	
Arial	10 - B I	u 🗉 🖻	≡團 \$	%,	00. 0.+	信徒		A -	
E3	- = 2	1	_						
A R		F	F G	н			к	1	м . —
1 User Grou PivotTe	able Wizard - S	tep 3 of 4							?×
2	Network		2002						2
3	2-94	- ~	210.5		the fie	uct you Id hutto	r Pivotiable by : ns on the right :	oragging to the	
5	ten 🖉 Bure		Sector 1		diagra	m on th	e left.		P
6									3
7									P
8							Jser Gro	u Right1	Average c
10	PAGE	ſ	CO	UMN		1	Gender	Right2	
11							Germer		þ.
12							Age	Right3	þ
13							Educate	Right4	
14		ROW	<u>D</u> .	Α ΤΑ			Jala		<u>و</u>
16								Rights	6
17							Stake	Right6	þ
18									e e
19									P-
20									<u>6</u>
22 2					Cancel		< Back	Next >	Einish 2
23									þ
24 3	1 20 1	1	3 15.00	0.00	15.00	0.00	18.63	33.33	13.66
HI I H H Sheet1 / She	et2 / Sheet3 /					< []			
Ready									NUM

FIGURE 66. Constructing a pivot table for simple analysis of rights to manage data (Step 1)

Drag *average of rights* into data space and stakeholders to row space (Figure 67).



FIGURE 67. Constructing a pivot table for simple analysis of rights to manage data (Step 2)

The sum is the default statistics. You can change the statistic by double-clicking the button and choosing the statistic that you want to calculate (Figure 68).



FIGURE 68. Changing the default statistics on rights to manage data

After, you have decided on the appropriate statistic, you can click the **Finish** button and you will get the table as shown in Figure 69. If you prefer a smaller number of digits, you can set the decimal place.⁵⁴

⁵⁴ To set the decimal place, go to Format menu, choose cells and under category, choose numbers. Then you can set the decimal place that you want by increasing or decreasing the default decimal place (default = 2).

M	icrosoft Excel - Right.xls								_ & ×
\$ \$`	Eile Edit ⊻iew Insert Format Io	ols <u>D</u> ata <u>W</u> indow	Help						_ & ×
D	6 8 6 8 % X 6 6 4	່ ທາງ 🖓 🐇	😤 Σ	f≈ ĝ	Z.	10 9 3 10	0% - 2		
Ari	al 🔻 10 💌 B 🖌 I		\$ %	, %	.00	律律 Ⅲ•	ð • <u>A</u> •		
	B4 • = 16	6.76877417633	72						
	A	В		С		D	E	F	G
1	Average of Average of Right								
2	Stake	Total							
3	1	17.4028278							
4	2	16.76877418							
5	3	21.5545885							
6	4	14.92517007							
7	5	29.34863946							
8	Grand Total	20							
9					_				
10									
11					_				
12					_				
13					_				
14					_				
15					_				
16					-				
17					-				
18					_				
10	▶ ▶ \ Sheet6 \ Sheet5 / Sheet1 / Sheet	<2 / Sheet3 /	1			۲.	1	1	l IÍ
Rea	ady								NUM

FIGURE 69. Excel table describing distribution of rights to manage among stakeholders, according to all respondents

d. Conducting advanced data analyses using SPSS

• Generating a table that describes the distribution of rights to manage, according to a particular subgroup

Sometimes, it is interesting to compare different subgroups' opinions within each demographic characteristic (ethnicity, gender, educational levels, etc.) on the distribution of pebbles among stakeholders. To compare those subgroups' opinions, we need to know the figures that describe the distribution of rights to manage among stakeholders according to each subgroup. You can follow our instructions below. Imagine we have a set of respondents with two educational levels, elementary and junior high school. From the menu, choose: Data Select Cases Tick on *if condition is satisfied* (Figure 70)

M	icrosoft Excel - Right.xls						_ 8 ×
ΣS [*]	Eile Edit ⊻iew Insert Format Io	ols <u>D</u> ata <u>W</u> indow	Help				_ 8 ×
	6860, x 680	່ ທາງ ແມ່ 🍓	響 Σ f* 急	XI 🛍 🔮 🚯 🛛	.00% - 🕱		
Ari	al • 10 • B / L		\$ % , %	ぷ 谭 谭 📃 -	ð • <u>A</u> •		
	B4 • = 16	6.76877417633	72				
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1	Average of Average of Right						
2	Stake	Total					
3	1	17.4028278					
4	2	16.76877418					
5	3	21.5545885					
6	4	14.92517007					
7	5	29.34863946					
8	Grand Total	20					
9							
10							
11							
12							
14							
15							
16	-						
17							
18							
19		2/01-22/					-
Po	 Init oneero y oneeto / Sheeti / Shee 	<2 / oneed3 /				N	
Rea	ady					1	011

FIGURE 70. Selecting cases for specified subgroups (rights to manage data)

Click on the *If* button.

Look at your coding sheet to determine the codes for elementary school and junior high school (for instance, you may have elementary school = 1, junior high school = 2)

Type in the conditional box educate = 1 (you will filter the data which has a value of 1 on educate column).

Then click **Continue** and **OK** (Figure 71).

⊞ Ri File	ght - S Edit	PSS D View)ata Dat	Editor a Tr	ansform	Statistics	Graphs	Utilities	Wir	dow ł	Help			_ @ ×
ت ا	 	mai .	-1 5	 	D. I. AA	Limbel n	ntentent	- Notal	1		2-4-	-		
1:		ect Las	ies			Select								<u>×</u>
	⊕ Et	ER GR	P (us	o noj eranol		C All cases							right1	right2
Sele	ct Ca	ses: lf				_							4.0	20.0
*	RESP. USEB	NO [re: GBP [u	sp_nc	1		educate =	1						.0	
ě	gende			-1									20	20.0
*	aye educa	е					- 1 -		1					
*	job stake					+ <	> 7	8 9	Eunc	tions:			.0	22
1	right1 right2						>= <u>4</u>	2 2	ABS AN	(numex 'ítest.va	pr) lue,∨olue	3		22.0
, and the second	right3						≓⊢	0 .	ARS	IN(num AN(nur	expr) nexpr)		.0	
*	right4 right5					*** ~		Delete	CDF	NORM	(zvalue)			10.0
() A	right6 Averar	e of Bir	aht fer	/eragi					Ilopi	.DEMIN			0.	
ľ		,	5			Continu	e C	ancel	H	lelp			2.0	22.0
F	Carrer	n oraius		ior nite	rcases								.0	
						OK I	Resta	Report	1.0		Holp		20.0	16.0
	_					UN	Eduig	Deser			neib		.0	
1:	3		2		2		1 36		1	1		3	16.0	24.0
1	4		2		2		1 36		1	1		л	0	
]	SPSS Proce	essor is re	ady						

FIGURE 71. Filtering with a lower educational level respondents on rights to manage data

Now, If you notice on the SPSS spreadsheet, there may be rows with values not equal to 1 in the *educate* column. These are respondents with higher educational level and are not included in the analysis, thus are inactive. This inactive status is marked by a diagonal line through the row number (see figure 72 for details).

🛗 Rig	ght - SPSS Da	ta Editor							_ 8	×
Eile	<u>E</u> dit ⊻iew [⊇ata <u>T</u> ransform	Statistics	Graphs	<u>U</u> tilities <u>W</u> ir	ndow	Help			
	18 9 0	<u> </u>	11日日	重国	<u>s</u>					
31:e	ducate	2								•
	resp_no	usergrp	gender	age	educate	job	stake	right1	right2	
25	:	3 3	1	20	1	1	5	13.0	30.0	
26		3 3	1	20	1	1	6	.0		
27		3 3	1	20	1	1	7	17.0		
28		3 3	1	20	1	1	8	.0	.0	
29	:	3 3	1	20	1	1	9	40.0	70.0	
30	:	3 3	1	20	1	1	10	.0		
31	1 4	4 4	0	29	2	3	1	10.0	14.0	
32	-	4 4	0	29	2	3	2	.0		
33	-	4 4	0	29	2	3	3	10.0	12.0	
34	-	4 4	0	29	2	3	4	.0		
35	4	4 4	0	29	2	3	5	10.0	14.0	
36	1 4	4 4	0	29	2	3	6	.0	.0	
31	1 "	4 4	0	29	2	3	7	20.0	16.0	
1	1	4 4	<u>م</u>	20	2	2	8	0	P.	•
		5	SPSS Proces	sor is re	ady		Filter C)n		

FIGURE 72. Result from selecting cases (rights to manage data)

Do the same step as in the fourth step of Part b of this section, for getting the average pebble distribution according to respondents with an elementary school educational level (see Figure 73).

To get the average pebble distribution according to respondents with a junior high school education level, simply change the conditional expression to : Educate = 2

Then do the same step as in the fourth step of Part b of this section.

Now, we can compare the differences in pebble distribution among two groups of stakeholders with different educational levels (Figure 74).

If you have more than two categories in your demographic data, you can do the same step to get the *mean/median* value of pebble distribution among stakeholders.



FIGURE 73. Distribution of rights to manage among stakeholders, according to respondents with a lower educational level

	SPSS Viewer (_ _ / ×
<u>P</u> rint	Next Page	Pre <u>v</u> Page <u>I</u> wo	o Page 👘 Zoom (n	Zoom <u>O</u> ut	<u>C</u> lose	
ables	Educate	=1				
STAKE	Punan Lundaye Abay HPH Govt	AVG_RGHT AVG_RGHT AVG_RGHT AVG_RGHT AVG_RGHT	18.31 17.69 23.96 14.23 25.80			
ables	Educate	=2				
STAKE	Puna n Lundave	AVG_RGHT	14.67			
	Abay HPH Govt	AVG_RGHT AVG_RGHT AVG_RGHT AVG_RGHT	14.00 14.33 17.00 40.00			

FIGURE 74. Comparison of rights to manage distribution based on educational level

• Testing agreement/disagreement among different groups on the distribution of rights to manage

You can check whether there is agreement or disagreement among the different groups within each demographic characteristic⁵⁵ about the amount of rights attributed to specified stakeholders. You can do the analysis for each stakeholder. What you should do first is filter the data so that only rows for specified stakeholders are active while the other rows are inactive. In this case, we filter data attributed to Punan (*Stake* = 1) only (see Figure 75). For detailed guidance on how to filter the data, see the first step of Part d of this section.

⁵⁵ Demographic characteristics here could be gender, educational level, ethnicity, etc.

⊞Right - SPSS Data Editor		_	đΧ
<u>File Edit ⊻iew Data Transform Statistics Graphs Utilities Window H</u> elp			
Select Cases	⊴		
2: RESP.N0 [resp_n0] Allerer			_
Select Cases: If	X	right2	
		20.0	
VUSER GRP [usergrp]	-	.0	
rø gender	Ŧ	20.0	
		.0	
(e) stake		22.0	
ADV(testvalue,value,) AAV(testvalue,value,) AAV(testvalue,value,)	=	.0	
		16.0	
inght5 CDF.BERNOULLI(q,p)	•	.0	
Average of Right [aver. Stake=1 (FILTER) [filter. Continue Cancel Help		22.0	
		.0	
	20.0	16.0	
UK Easte Eeset Cancel Help	.0	.0	
13 2 2 1 36 1 1 3	16.0	24.0	
	0	0	-
SPSS Processor is ready			-

FIGURE 75. Filtering data for Punan (rights to manage data)

From the menu, choose:

Statistics <u>N</u>onparametric test <u>2</u> independent samples or <u>K</u> independent samples⁵⁶ (See Figure 76)

⁵⁶ If you would like to test the data with only two categories or two groups, you should choose two independent samples and then use the Mann-Whitney test. If you are dealing with data with more than two categories, you should choose K-independent samples, and then use the Kruskall-Wallis test.



FIGURE 76. Selecting Statistical Test for Testing Agreement on *Rights to* Manage Data

Put the test variable⁵⁷ into the *test variable list* box and the grouping variable into the *grouping variable* box (Figure 77). Then, you should define a minimum and maximum value of the grouping variable as shown in Figure 78 (you can see the meaning of each code on your coding sheet).

⁵⁷ The test variable should be the column containing the average of rights. The grouping variable is the column containing demographic characteristics that we want to compare.

⊞ Rig	ht - S	PSS [)ata E	Editor								_ 8 ×
File	<u>E</u> dit	⊻iew	Data	a <u>T</u> ransform	Statistics (<u>à</u> raphs	<u>U</u> tilities <u>W</u> ir	idow	<u>H</u> elp			
s F	8	I	0 <u>E</u>	<u> </u>	1百日田	ΦÆ	80					
22:s	take			2								-
	re	sp 🗊	Two	Independent	Samples T	ests					× ight1	right2
22		Ē	🖗 ger	nder	-	Te	st Variable List:		_	OK.	.0	
23			⊛age ⊛job	9		- I*	Average of Rig	ht[ave	ragi	<u>P</u> aste	15.0	
24			⊛ stal ⊛ riqh	ke it1						Reset	.0	
25			èrigh ⊛righ	#2 #3		67	ouning Variable		-	Cancel	13.0	30.0
26			iigh iigh	it4			lucate(? ?)			Help	.0	
27			arynigr ≙ria⊧	46	-	Ĩ	2efine Groups				17.0	
28			Test	Туре							.0	لل .
29		Mann-Whitney U								40.0	70.0	
30		☐ Moses extreme reactions ☐ Wald-Wolfowitz runs								.0		
31								ntiono			10.0	14.0
32								puons			.0	
33			4	4	0	29	2	3		3	10.0	12.0
34			4	4	0	29	2	3		4	.0	
- 36				Л	<u>م</u>	20	2	3		5	10.0	14
				5	SPSS Proces	sor is re	ady					

FIGURE 77. Selecting test variables and grouping variables (rights to manage data)

⊞Right - SPSS Data Editor												
File	Elle Edit View Data Transform Statistics Graphs Utilities Window Help											
22:st	22:stake											
	resp 😭	Fwo-In	dependent-	Samples T	ests				×	ight1	right2	
22	9	RESF	P. NO [resp_n	1 -	Te	st Variable List:		_	ОК	.0	۹.	
23	l é	>USE⊢ >gendi	R GRP (usergi er		. *	Average of Hig	gnt (ave	ragi	Paste	15.0		
24		≽age ≽job					0		Reset	.0		
25		⊳stake ⊳right1	Two	Independe	nt Sam	ples: Define	Groups		Cancel	13.0	30.0	
_26	l ě	> right2	Gro	up <u>1</u> : 1	-8	_	Continu	1e	Help	.0	.¢	
21		viaht/	Gro	up <u>2</u> : 2		_	Cance			17.0		
28	Test Type Help								.0			
29	Mann-WhitneyU I Kolmogorov-Smirnov 2									40.0	70.0	
30	[Mo <u>s</u>	es extreme re	actions	∏ <u>W</u> alı	HWolfowitz runs	5			.0		
31							Intions			10.0	14.0	
32					_		,paono			.0		
33		4	4	0	29	2	3		3	10.0	12.0	
34		4	4	0	29	2	3		4	.0		
- 26	1	1	4	0	20	2	2		5	10.0	14.0	-
			S	PSS Proces	sor is re	ady			Filter On	J		i

FIGURE 78. Defining the range for grouping variable (rights to manage data)

Click **Continue** and then **OK**.

You will get the results as shown in Figure 79.

See the P-value (indicated by the arrow). If the P-value falls below 0.05, we reject the null hypothesis⁵⁸ and conclude there is disagreement among the groups about the amount of pebbles belonging to the specified stakeholder. If the P-value exceeds 0.05 then we conclude there is agreement among the different groups.

You can undertake analysis for the other stakeholders as well, by changing the filtering statement. For instance if you want to test the amount of pebbles attributed to *Lundaye*⁵⁹ (look at your coding sheet and get the code for *Lundaye*, *Stake* = 2). Then change the filtering status in Figure 18 to *Stake* = 2 and run the same procedure to obtain the statistical test.

⁵⁸ The null hypothesis is: That all subgroups allocated the same amount of pebbles for the stakeholder being tested. In the other words, all subgroups agreed about the amount of rights attributed to the stakeholders being tested.

⁵⁹ *Lundaye* is one of the major ethnic group in Paking, Bulungan, where we undertook our field test.



FIGURE 79. Output of statistical test for Punan based on educational level (rights to manage data)

- e. Conducting advanced data analysis using Excel
 - Generating a table that describes the pebble distribution, according to particular subgroups

You can do a similar procedure as the one for getting a table of pebble distribution according to all respondents. The differences will start when you construct the pivot table. Instead of just dragging all benefits to the data space and the stakeholder to the row space, you must also drag the column where the particular sub groups are into the column space⁶⁰ (Figure 80). In this example, we use the educational level as an example.

⁶⁰ Sub groups here can be gender, educational level, age, ethnicity, etc.



FIGURE 80. Constructing a pivot table for advanced analysis on rights to manage data

By clicking the **Finish** button, you will get the result (Figure 81). There are two sub-tables, one for each educational level (in this example, as the previous one, educational level = 1 means elementary school, while educational level = 2 means junior high school).

M	icrosoft Excel - Right.xls						_ & ×
55	Eile Edit ⊻iew Insert Format Io	ols <u>D</u> ata <u>W</u> indow	Help				_ 8 ×
	68 60.7 1 B C 4	່ ທາດ 🖓 🍓	ኛ Σ 🖈 👌 🖁	l 🛍 🔮 🎝 10	0% - 🕱		
Ari	al 🔻 10 💌 B 🖌 1	IBBBB	\$ % , *.# ;	% 律律 🗉 •	<u>ð - A</u> -		
	A1 • = A	verage of Avera	age of Right				
	A	В	С	D	E	F	GĒ
1	Average of Average of Right	Educate					
2	Stake	1	2	Grand Total			
3	1	18.31488151	14.66666667	17.4028278			
4	2	17.6916989	14	16.76877418			
5	3	23.96167356	14.33333333	21.5545885			
6	4	14.23356009	17	14.92517007			
7	5	25.79818594	40	29.34863946			_
8	Grand Total	20	20	20			
9							
10							
11							
12							
13							_
14							
15							
16							
17							
18							
14 4	▶ ▶ \Sheet6 \ Sheet5 / Sheet1 / Shee	t2 / Sheet3 /	1	1.1		1	í sf
Rea	ady						NUM

FIGURE 81. Excel table describing comparison of rights to manage distribution based on educational level

D – CONCLUSIONS

This manual has been designed for use with CIFOR's other C&I tools, particularly The BAG and The Grab Bag. The Scoring and Analysis Guide has covered three main topics: a scoring guide, guidelines on developing a master C&I spreadsheet for use with the scoring guide, and an analysis guide. The first (Section I) provided the user with some global comparisons of conditions, linked to scores considered reasonable by the authors and based on considerable field experience in testing C&I. The purpose was to aid users in making assessments of conditions they encounter in the field, linked to human wellbeing. The second (II) was designed for users who are relatively unfamiliar with computer spreadsheet use, and explained both the process of making and using a spreadsheet, and provided more details about a proposed, overall scoring method. The third and longest, Section III, provided considerable detail on ways to analyse the results from several of the quantitative methods described in The BAG and The Grab Bag. This manual is to be used as a reference document, with users going directly to the section most relevant for their particular needs. We have tried to provide assistance and guidance in the difficult task of assessing, scoring, and analysing data resulting from assessment procedures. Although we have found these procedures helpful, we recognise that the task of assessment and the judgements required remain formidable. Assessing human well-being is not an easy task. We remain convinced that the best assessments will result from experienced and sympathetic assessors who continue to use their minds in creative and con-

assessors who continue to use their minds in creative and constructive ways as they go through the procedures suggested in this manual. We have not yet reached a state in the assessment of sustainable forest management, including human well-being, where we can follow procedures blindly and come up with sensible conclusions. We conclude by urging users to keep their minds engaged as they examine the conditions of the people in and around the forests they are assessing.

E – BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Colfer, C.J.P., Brocklesby, M.A., Diaw, C., Etuge, P., Günter, M., Harwell, E., McDougall, C., Porro, N.M., Porro, R., Prabhu, R., Salim, A., Sardjono, M.A., Tchikangwa, B., Tiani, A.M., Wadley, R.L., Woelfel, J. and Wollenberg, E. 1999. The BAG (Basic assessment guide for human well-being). Criteria and Indicators Toolbox Series No. 5. CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia.
- Colfer, C.J.P., Brocklesby, M.A., Diaw, C., Etuge, P., Günter, M., Harwell, E., McDougall, C., Porro, N.M., Porro, R., Prabhu, R., Salim, A., Sardjono, M.A., Tchikangwa, B., Tiani, A.M., Wadley, R.L., Woelfel, J. and Wollenberg, E. 1999. *The Grab Bag:* Supplementary methods for assessing human well-being. Criteria and Indicators Toolbox Series No. 6. CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia.

Draper, N. and Smith, H. 1981. Applied regression analysis. Wiley, New York.

- Makridakis, S., Wheelwright, S.C. and McGee, V.E. 1983. Forecasting: Methods and applications. Wiley, New York.
- Sardjono, M.A., Rositah, E., Wijaya, A. and Angie, E.M. 1997. A test of social science assessment methods concerning indicators and criteria for sustainable forest management in East Kalimantan. CIFOR Report. CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia.

SPSS for Windows, Rel. 8.0.0. 1997. SPSS Inc., Chicago.

Tchikangwa, N.B. with Sikoua, S., Metomo, M. and Adjudo, M.F. 1998. Test des méthodes en sciences sociales de vérification des critères et indicateurs d'aménagement durable des forêts: Périphérie est de la Réserve du Dja (Sud-Cameroun). CIFOR Report. CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia.

Woelfel, J.K. 1998. User's Guide CatPac II version 2.0. Rah Press, Amherst, NY.

APPENDIX A: CHECKING REGRESSION ANALYSIS ASSUMPTIONS

1. HOMOGENEITY OF RESIDUAL VARIANCES (HOMOSCEDASTICITY)

By homoscedasticity we mean the residual variances is constant for any value of the independent variable (X). A cone-shaped distribution of residuals against the fitted value may give first sight that the residuals variances is not constant (see Figures 82a and 82b). A model that satisfies this assumption will have constant residual variances as shown in Figure 82c.

If the residual shows pattern a or b, you can use weighted linear regression (Draper&Smith 1981).

For further discussion on how to overcome this problem, please consult a statistician.



FIGURE 82. Some patterns of residual variances

2. NORMALITY OF RESIDUAL

Regression analysis assumes that the residuals of the model follow normal distribution⁶¹ with zero mean and unity standard deviations. There are many tests to check the normality assumption including the Kolmogorov-Smirnov-test, and the Shapiro-Wilk test. These tests can be easily performed using Minitab. However, we can check this assumption quickly using normal Q-Q plot.

When you run the regression analysis using Excel remember you have clicked on normal probability plot option. This option will produce a normal quantilequantile (Q-Q) plot, as shown in Figure 83.



FIGURE 83. Normal probability plot of residual

61 X is said to follow normal distribution if its probability function, f(x) approximately equal to $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}e^{\frac{1}{2}-\sigma^2}}$, where μ and σ^2 , respectively, are mean and variances of the variable.

The Criteria and Indicators Toolbox Series No. 7

 $1(x-\mu)$

If the residual patterns follow a straight line, we may conclude that the residual was distributed following a normal distribution assumption. The more the residuals depart from straight line pattern, the more likely residual was not distributed following normal distribution. If this occurs, more detailed tests such as those suggested above should be used. Please consult a statistician on how to perform and to draw conclusions from the test.

3. UNCORRELATED RESIDUAL

In regression analysis, we assume that the observational errors are uncorrelated. There are, of course, many cases where the residuals may be correlated (Draper&Smith 1981). This kind of phenomenon more often occurs when we deal with time series data. The most common pattern we may find is that the residual from the *i*th (in time sequence) observation has linear relationship with residual for the (i–1)th observation. Figure 84a and 84b show two plots that reveal functional relationships between residuals. Figure 84a shows positive trend between one step apart residuals; mean-while, Figure 84b shows a negative trend between the residuals.

The correlation between the *i*th and (i–1)th observations was called *lag-1 serial correlation*. To view the existence of serial correlation of larger lag, you can plots the residual two steps apart, three steps apart, and so on. In the presence of autocorrelated residual, several methods can be used, including *autoregressive regression*.



FIGURE 84. Plots show autocorellated residual

The Scoring and Analysis Guide for Assessing Human Well-Being is designed to supplement *The BAG* and *The Grab Bag.* It provides a scoring method that can be used with the two manuals, to come to a decision about particular criteria and indicators in particular forest and human settings. Following the section on scoring is a section on analysis. It begins very simply, leading the user through the steps of making a spreadsheet, and concluding with more complex statistical analyses that may be desireable in some circumstances. Different teams have different requirements for quantitative and statistical sophistication in their analyses. This manual responds to these differing needs.







